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14

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:29 a.m.

15

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

16

Mr. Warren.

17

MR. WARREN:
Sir.

18

MR. KAISER:
Do we have a witness?

19

MS. LEA:
Yes, sir, we have for you Mr. Robert Camfield who is testifying ‑‑ being called by Board Staff to provide evidence on the comparators and cohorts issue. If he could be sworn, please.

20

BOARD STAFF PANEL 1 ‑ CAMFIELD:


21

R.CAMFIELD:; Sworn.

22

EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

23

MS. LEA:
Good morning, Mr. Camfield. I wonder if I could ask you a few questions, please, about your expertise and qualifications, please.

24

I gather that everyone has had an opportunity to look at your resume. Can I now make that an exhibit, please? The resume of Mr. Camfield has been on this website for some period of time, since his evidence was filed, and that would be Exhibit 6.1, please.

25

EXHIBIT NO. D.6.1:
RESUME OF ROBERT CAMFIELD

26

MS. LEA:
Mr. Camfield, I understand that you have a Masters in Economics from Western Michigan University; is that correct?

27

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is correct.

28

MS. LEA:
And that degree was preceded by a Bachelor of Science from Ferris State College in 1969?

29

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is that correct.

30

MS. LEA:
And you are presently vice‑president of Laurits R. Christensen Associates; is that correct?

31

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

32

MS. LEA:
And since 1994, you have been with that firm?

33

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

34

MS. LEA:
And you have held the position for most of those years of senior economist; is that right?

35

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's right.

36

MS. LEA:
What does the firm of Laurits R. Christensen Associates do?

37

MR. CAMFIELD:
Laurits R. Christensen is an economic and engineering consulting firm that is predominantly engaged in costing, pricing, and assisting infrastructure industries. In recent years, our market research activities has increased, as we find the integration of market research with the pricing of utility services.

38

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

39

Now, before you went to Laurits R. Christensen, I understand you with the Southern Company in various incarnations as a system economist, an economist, and a strategic planner; is that correct?

40

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

41

MS. LEA:
And what is the Southern Company?

42

MR. CAMFIELD:
The Southern Company is a holding company. Southern has five operating subsidiaries. These subsidiaries are integrated electric companies, and they also have two large wholesale par subsidiaries. In addition, they have a large service organization that provides a number of support services to the operating companies.

43

MS. LEA:
And do any of these subsidiaries provide distribution services?

44

MR. CAMFIELD:
Each of them does.

45

MS. LEA:
And I understand that you began your career as a staff economist at the Michigan Public Service Commission.

46

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

47

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

48

And looking at the paragraph below, under "Professional Experience," I see that you serve as a program director of a national market design school.

49

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. And just to be more precise, that is the Edison Electric Institute's Transmission Pricing and Market Design School.

50

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

51

You have given us a fairly extensive list of major projects, papers, speaking engagements, and testimony. I certainly don't intend to take you through many of those. I wonder if I could ask you for a few examples of work that involved analysis of distribution utility costs.

52

To begin with, did you do any of that kind of work when you were with the Southern Company?

53

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, yes. I did extensive work in assessment of cost of power delivery services, including both transmission and distribution, while with Southern Company.

54

MS. LEA:
And have you done some international work, that is, outside of the United States, in this type of field?

55

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. In particular, I worked in Poland, but elsewhere as well.

56

MS. LEA:
And what did the Polish project involve?

57

MR. CAMFIELD:
The Polish work, there was a series of projects that we had done over a number of years with the Polish Power Grid Company. Each of those projects was with the Polish power grid. Those projects involved transmission, predominantly transmission, but also distribution. And we needed to know not just the economic cause of distribution services for the Polish LDCs but also the financial cost. The financial cost was needed in order to determine retail prices, or, should I say, prices for end‑use consumers.

58

MS. LEA:
And have either of these projects involved any difficulties with incomplete or questionable data?

59

MR. CAMFIELD:
Certainly, the work ‑‑ all the work that I've done in, should we say, the developing world involves data and quality of data issues, and that certainly applies to Poland.

60

MS. LEA:
And then I wonder if I could ask you for an example of recent work. I see that you did a project in Florida for a utility there; is that correct?

61

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

62

MS. LEA:
What type of ‑‑ what size or type of utility was that?

63

MR. CAMFIELD:
The Florida utility that you're referring to would be Florida Public Utilities Company. Florida Public Utilities is a distribution company, it is an LDC. It purchases, through long‑term contract, all of its wholesale power supply and transmission services, sometimes referred to as full‑requirement service.

64

Florida Public Utilities' work involved the cost of capital. I estimated and testified on behalf of Florida Public Utilities with regards to cost of capital and with regards to distribution cost assessment and benchmarking. The application of the benchmarking work was a comparative assessment for the public utilities distribution clause vis‑a‑vis a sample of small utilities and regional utilities, some of whom were large.

65

The purpose of that work was to demonstrate that Florida Public Utilities Company was comparatively efficient and had comparatively low costs with reference to the comparison utilities.

66

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

67

Subject to any questions or objections of my friends, Mr. Chairman, I do not propose to qualify Mr. Camfield any further, and I propose him as an expert in this hearing on the analysis of electric utility costs, including the identification of cost drivers, and the application of statistical cost estimation methods to utility data and utility comparison.

68

MR. KAISER:
The Board accepts the witness as an expert.

69

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

70

Mr. Camfield, then, I'd like to turn to the evidence you've filed on the record and other pieces of evidence that have been filed on the record in this subject area.

71

To begin with, a few questions regarding process. I understand you were retained by Board Staff to determine whether a comparator and cohort system of comparing electricity LDCs could be used for screening applications in the 2006 rate application process.

72

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is correct.

73

MS. LEA:
And as part of your work for the Board, did you meet with stakeholders in the 2006 EDR process?

74

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I had two all‑day discussions, or partial‑day discussions, with the stakeholder groups, what is known as the C&C working group.

75

MS. LEA:
"C&C" stands for?

76

MR. CAMFIELD:
Excuse me, comparators and cohorts working group. And these discussions were held, first, in late November and then, secondly, in the early December time frame.

77

MS. LEA:
And what did you learn from stakeholders that assisted you in preparing your evidence?

78

MR. CAMFIELD:
The discussions focused on understanding two main dimensions of local distribution services in the province of Ontario: first of all, the market and business context of the LDCs and then, secondly, getting an understanding of the main sensitivities, should we say, cost drivers, the factors of that business experience that determine costs. And the approach was to provide, should we say, my priors, my prior belief about what the plausible set of cost drivers might be. And reviewing that with the stakeholders tended to generally confirm my prior beliefs.

79

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

80

And I understand that you filed evidence in this proceeding on December 13th, 2004?

81

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is correct.

82

MS. LEA:
And that evidence has been given exhibit number B.4 in this proceeding?

83

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

84

MS. LEA:
Was that evidence given prepared by you or under your direction?

85

MR. CAMFIELD:
It was.

86

MS. LEA:
And do you now adopt that evidence?

87

MR. CAMFIELD:
I do.

88

MS. LEA:
Are there any changes or corrections that you wish to make to the evidence at this time?

89

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. The edits that I would suggest we consider for adoption include four items.

90

MS. LEA:
Yes.

91

MR. CAMFIELD:
If I may turn the Board's attention, first of all, to page 14, the second line on page 14, where it reads "utilize perpetual inventory refunds" should read "utilize perpetual inventory methods."

92

Then, secondly, I would like to turn the Board's attention to page 21. And again we're at the top of the page, and it should read from the previous page, "The follow‑up analysis will utilize" in lieu of "to".

93

MS. LEA:
I'm sorry, can you refer that to me again, please?

94

MR. CAMFIELD:
This is at the very top of page 21, though the sentence begins at the bottom of the previous page ‑‑

95

MS. LEA:
Thank you, yes.

96

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ of 20.

97

MS. LEA:
And what was the change, sir?

98

MR. CAMFIELD:
The very first word is changed to read "will" in lieu of "to".

99

MS. LEA:
My copy has the word "will". Okay. Thank you, sir. I think the copy on the website, perhaps you had already made that correction.

100

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's possible.

101

MS. LEA:
You're too efficient for us, sir. Go ahead.

102

MR. CAMFIELD:
Page 23.

103

MS. LEA:
Yes.

104

MR. CAMFIELD:
At the top of the page again, we have three items listed there, items B, C, and D, and toward the end of item D, it should read, "LDCs within the cohorts" in lieu of "residual".

105

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

106

MR. CAMFIELD:
And then finally, page 27, and here in the second complete paragraph, down in the paragraph a bit where, reading from the left, it reads, "time equipments," it should be "time equivalents." And the parenthesis, the closed parenthesis after "FTEs" should follow "KWH".

107

MS. LEA:
So it's the moving the that closed parenthesis.

108

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

109

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Any further at this time?

110

MR. CAMFIELD:
No further changes are suggested.

111

MS. LEA:
All right. Thank you.

112

Now, I understand, sir, that you also prepared a presentation regarding your evidence for stakeholders that was to be given here at the Board on January 6th; is that correct?

113

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

114

MS. LEA:
And did you actually meet with stakeholders on that day?

115

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, as things turned out, I couldn't quite get to Toronto because of weather constraints in the Chicago area and got sort of stuck in O'Hare, and thus the presentation was delivered over the phone, from a hotel near O'Hare airport, in Chicago.

116

MS. LEA:
Thank you. And is it your understanding that that's the presentation that Mr. Lowry refers to in his evidence?

117

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

118

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

119

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to offer the presentation slides as an exhibit in this proceeding. Again, they have been on the website since January 6th, but I think it would be appropriate to add them to the record. That would be Exhibit 6.2, if it please the Board.

120

MR. KAISER:
Before you do that, any objections to the report?

121

EXHIBIT NO. D.6.2:
PRESENTATION SLIDES

122

MS. LEA:
And a few last questions before we get to the substance of your evidence, sir.

123

Have you had any discussions with the Panel Members, the Panel Members that are sitting on this case, related to the issues of comparators and cohorts, or any other issue?

124

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have had no discussions with Members of the Ontario Energy Board.

125

MS. LEA:
And will you be providing any advice to this Board Panel, other than the advice you give under oath in this hearing?

126

MR. CAMFIELD:
No.

127

MS. LEA:
If the Board decides the comparators and cohorts will be used for screening in the 2006 rate‑setting process, what is the understanding of the role of you and your firm?

128

MR. CAMFIELD:
The role of my consulting group, Laurits R. Christensen Associates, is to assist the Board Staff in the assessment of and screening of the rate applications in the 2006 EDR.

129

The remaining work that we will do with the Board and the Board Staff involves four main steps. These include ‑‑ first of all, we need to define or, should I say, specify in greater detail, the C&C mechanism, as I have defined it, as a conceptual framework.

130

Then, secondly, we will need to obtain and inspect and screen, possibly, call data, as filed by the LDCs in the 2006 EDR for application and use within the C&C mechanism.

131

Then the third step ‑‑ or part of our work, during the year 2005, is to conduct the analysis that is embodied in the C&C framework. And then, finally, to report those results to the Board and Board Staff.

132

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

133

So turning, then, to the evidence which has now been filed as Exhibit B.4, I think that you've already indicated, to some degree, what the purpose of this evidence was. Can you just review those purposes for us, please.

134

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. The main body of evidence, as we understand it, I believe, is Exhibit B.4. And B.4 outlines and defines a C&C mechanism which I have referred to as a "framework". This is a conceptual framework that embodies the analysis of the comparators and cohorts work and process.

135

Secondly, the study report, known as Exhibit B.4, tests for or assesses the feasibility of the mechanism as defined ‑‑ the framework as defined. And then, finally, we set forth and demonstrate the workings ‑‑ the mechanical workings of the C&C mechanism ‑‑ the framework, as proposed.

136

And then, the fourth ‑ an important item ‑ is to define the data that the LDCs should file in order to facilitate the application of the C&C mechanism. I should mention that the study ‑‑ or should I say the workings ‑‑ the demonstration of the workings of the mechanics of the C&C mechanism includes a preliminary set of cohorts and comparators, though we cannot rely upon these in any practical application.

137

MS. LEA:
And why is that, sir?

138

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, because of concerns about the data quality that are identified in the study, Exhibit B.4.

139

MS. LEA:
May these preliminary set of cohorts and comparators change, then, in the final analysis that you do?

140

MR. CAMFIELD:
They will undoubtedly change.

141

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

142

What is your understanding of the purpose that the comparators and cohorts mechanism is to serve in the 2006 rate‑setting process?

143

MR. CAMFIELD:
The purpose of the C&C mechanism is to assist the Board ‑‑ the Board Staff in the assessment of the LDC rate applications. It is somewhat of a ‑‑ we might refer to this as a "screening tool" device to help them assess the numerous filings of the LDCs ‑‑ to process the filings. It's to facilitate and enable the staff to scrutinize those applications ‑‑ to facilitate their investigation of the rate applications.

144

MS. LEA:
And what data did you use in your study that resulted in Exhibit B.4?

145

MR. CAMFIELD:
The data is known as the 2002 and 2003 PBR Data.

146

MS. LEA:
What were the main findings of your study?

147

MR. CAMFIELD:
There are three or four, I think, essential things.

148

First of all, we conducted some statistical analysis, which, in some discussions, is referred to as regression or econometric analysis, we find significant statistical relationships between costs, LDC costs, cost drivers and output quantities of various dimensions.

149

Secondly, as I mentioned earlier, we have found a considerable level of inconsistents in the data in its current form. This includes data omissions, it includes data that is very clearly of the wrong magnitude, missing data. This suggest that is as questions go forward with the C&C mechanism, should the Board adopt that mechanism, that we're going to have to deal with some serious data issues. And part of the ‑‑ certainly the success, the full success of the C&C mechanism is contingent upon the data quality.

150

Finally, I think that with sufficient data quality, that the framework, as I have outlined it in the study, the study known as Exhibit B.4, is feasible for the task of screening and assisting the Staff in the evaluation of the LDC rate filings.

151

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Are you proposing at this time that the mechanism that is detailed in your evidence be used as a gauge of overall LDC performance?

152

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, certainly not, and I've highlighted this point in several discussions with the stakeholders and with various parties. We do not believe, my consulting group, who does a lot of cost assessment and benchmarking and total factor productivity work, we understand that this mechanism is a rather disaggregated approach and does not provide an appropriate basis to assess or gauge, as you suggest, overall performance.

153

MS. LEA:
You had mentioned, sir, that you, in your evidence, have defined the data that, in your view, the LDCs should file to enable you to conduct the analysis you propose. I understand you've also prepared a chart entitled "C&C Utility Filing Information;" is that correct?

154

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, that's correct.

155

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

156

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to put before the Board this chart. It's entitled, "C&C Utility Filing Information." This chart was developed by Mr. Camfield and was sent to my friends, at least those of whom I knew were going to be attending today, yesterday, so that they could have a look at it. It does embody certain proposed requirements, so I'd ask that it be given exhibit number 6.3, please, sir.

157

MR. KAISER:
Does everyone have a copy of this?

158

MS. LEA:
There are additional copies at the back of the room, as well also of the January 6th presentation and the resume which have been made exhibits.

159

EXHIBIT NO. D.6.3:
CHART PREPARED BY MR. CAMFIELD ENTITLED, "C&C UTILITY FILING INFORMATION

160

MS. LEA:
Mr. Camfield, could you please take us through this chart and tell us what it's all about.

161

MR. CAMFIELD:
Surely. This exhibit entitled, "C&C Utility Filing Information," provides a more precise list of the data that, as I believe, is needed to facilitate the application of the C&C mechanism. The data, as we look at page 1 here, includes a column as you can see, as everyone can see, running down the left‑hand side we notice in some of the rows that there are Xs. This refers to a data item that we feel is a necessary data item for the facilitation of the mechanism.

162

MS. LEA:
I'm sorry, sir. Just to interrupt you, sir, for a moment. So where no X appears, it is not your view that this item is necessary?

163

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's certainly desirable, but I believe that we can move forward in its absence.

164

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Go ahead.

165

MR. CAMFIELD:
Then adjacent to moving across here to the right, we see variable descriptions, such as in the case of the category that I refer to as labour, this would be labour resource costs. We would like to obtain from the LDCs the number of full‑time employees.

166

Moving to the right further, we have a column referred to as "Already Reported," and any indication of whether or not this is a data item that is currently reported within the PBR filings, and in some cases where it is not, suggesting that it is a new data item.

167

And then finally, we have a column referred to as "Comments" and as I prepared this list of data items, it seemed appropriate to comment about the data to maybe facilitate parties' understanding of what we're looking for.

168

MS. LEA:
Thank you. And for each of these categories that you've listed here, how many years of data are you suggesting that the Board require the utilities to file?

169

MR. CAMFIELD:
We need these data for 2002, 2003, and 2004. Much of this data has been filed and is available already.

170

MS. LEA:
Are there any ‑‑ sorry, go ahead.

171

MR. CAMFIELD:
There is a data series shown on, let me see here, page 4, at the top of page 4, that is asking for some historical measures of output, should we say, services provided. This includes energy sales, peak demand, numbers of customers and so forth, reaching back to 1990. These data are not currently filed.

172

MS. LEA:
Thank you. In your evidence, you expressed concern about not overburdening the LDCs with respect to data requirements. Can you explain that concern.

173

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. In the study, at two places in the study, now Exhibit B.4, we talk about the burden of data. And a concern that I have is that the C&C mechanism facilitates regulation, and to do that I think we have to look at this as an umbrella, and that the burden of gathering, organizing and formatting data, potentially an awful lot of data, can be a costly experience for the LDCs. Though, on the other hand, it might facilitate the Board Staff. So we're trying to balance here the concerns or the interest of Board Staff in having a lot of data. On the other hand, we'd like to minimize the burden of gathering all that information by the LDCs. So I think it's a matter of just finding the appropriate balance here, and I've tried to do that. I've tried to identify data that allows us to facilitate the mechanism and not overly burden the LDCs.

174

MS. LEA:
Once the data is filed, about how much time will be required to work with the data and complete your analysis?

175

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would guess that we can complete the analysis within two, maybe three weeks. I would guess that we can report the analysis and findings back to the Board and the Board Staff for its consideration within another two weeks.

176

MS. LEA:
Thank you. Now, what happens if the data are less than perfect? Does that mean that the comparators and cohorts analysis cannot be done?

177

MR. CAMFIELD:
Certainly not. It means that the C&C mechanism can ‑‑ the C&C mechanism can certainly proceed with less than complete or less than, should we say, the best ideal set of data. Nonetheless, it's important to recognize that to the degree that the data as realized and that we have available to us is a departure from the ideal or complete set of data, then that does, to some degree, compromise the analyses, and that compromise has a couple of dimensions. It, first of all, means that the reliability of the C&C mechanism as executed and reflected in the analyses may be less than what would be achieved with a full set of data. On the other hand, I believe that we need not have a complete ideal set of data in order to provide valuable assistance to the Staff through the execution of the mechanism.

178

MS. LEA:
Is it possible that you will exclude some LDCs from your analysis?

179

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. Yes. It's quite possible that not all of the LDCs will ‑‑ and ‑‑ in their experience, data experience will be utilized in the analyses.

180

MS. LEA:
Have you determined already that there are any LDCs that will be excluded?

181

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. It's clear here at the outset that Hydro One Networks, Hydro One Remote Communities will be excluded from the analyses. It's clear to us that the First Nations LDCs as well will be excluded from the analyses.

182

MS. LEA:
What are the reasons for these exclusions?

183

MR. CAMFIELD:
Because of the institutional context that the LDCs have been working within, say, the business context, the institutional framework, and so forth, is quite a bit different than the remainder of the LDCs in Ontario. It leaves me to be reluctant to include these LDCs that I mention here in the overall analyses, for a comparison of all the LDCs in Ontario.

184

MS. LEA:
Have you continued to work with the data since your evidence was filed in mid‑December?

185

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, but only a little. We have looked at the data, and we can see how we can more fully utilize the data and information. Let me just mention a couple things here ‑‑ well, at least, one specific item.

186

A good researcher, I should mention, should have the objective of utilizing the data that he has available to him to the fullest. This is a matter of just understanding the data, and how the data can be used, and, kind of, coupling ‑‑ or using that within some analytical framework.

187

And along this line, it occurred to me, in looking at some information just recently, how, I believe, we can construct a data series, should I say, a variable, that potentially allows us to measure the assessability of facilities. And by that, I mean in urban areas, as we understand, because of ‑‑ just the nature of electric distribution services, assessability to the physical facilities, in order to carry out maintenance and provide reliability, is an issue. So I can see how we, possibly, can construct a data set ‑‑ a variable ‑ excuse me ‑ that allows us to measure, or codify, assessability.

188

And I'm really interested and excited about this possibility. This was an important dimension of the business context, as identified by the stakeholders.

189

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

190

I'd like to turn to a couple of specific questions that have been addressed in two pieces of evidence on the record.

191

Both you and Dr. Lowry have identified, in several places in each piece of evidence, the difficulty in properly measuring capital, and the problem that this creates in any comparator and cohort analysis. How do you propose to deal with this issue in your work, for this process?

192

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, yes, the measurement of capital is a very senior concern that both Dr. Lowry and I harbour in our concerns about the feasibility of the C&C mechanism. And I would propose, though, to construct ‑‑ or build a data series, known as a "net capital stock," a measure of the economic value and worth of capital in providing services ‑ essentially, capital provides services, as does labour and other resources ‑ and use that measure of capital in lieu of accounting measures of capital, of which there are two dimensions: a gross accounting measure of assets and a net accounting measure of assets.

193

MS. LEA:
It was also mentioned in the evidence that there was a problem with the substitution between capital expenses and operating expenses. Can you indicate whether you've taken that into account in planning your analysis?

194

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, the analyses that I have conducted ‑‑ conducted in the proof of concept test, as included in my study ‑‑ the study filed in December 13, does account for, where I could, the substitution of capital with operating expenses.

195

MS. LEA:
Is this problem in measuring capital unique to Ontario?

196

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, certainly not. This is a general consideration that is across all economic studies.

197

MS. LEA:
And have you dealt with this problem before?

198

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

199

MS. LEA:
I was wondering, also, about utilities that outsource all or some of their functions. How do you deal with such utilities in a comparators and cohorts analysis?

200

MR. CAMFIELD:
Outsourcing can be of two types here. And, as I understand it, from my discussions with the stakeholders, there are both jointly‑provided services and then, secondly, there are purchased services. And these services, of both dimensions, are used by the LDCs, probably ‑ I would imagine, though I don't know this for sure ‑ but it's likely that the smaller LDCs would have a greater use and application of jointly‑provided services than larger LDCs.

201

These services would be included in the input costs that we know of as the "operations and maintenance expenses," as they appear in the unbundled services, as I have defined them, including three different categories: wires and interconnections service; secondly, billings and collections, these are the unbundled services that are, conventionally, costs for which ‑‑ are conventionally reported by the LDCs in Ontario; and then, finally, I'm suggesting that we break out a separate unbundled service, known as "customer services." And there, as well, we would want to have the main cost categories defined, including capital and O&M expenses, but, within the O&M expenses, the outsourced costs would appear.

202

MS. LEA:
Thank you. And just before we leave your own evidence, then, I wonder if you could think a bit beyond the 2006 process now, and indicate whether you have any recommendations for the Board for the time period after 2006.

203

MR. CAMFIELD:
As I have mentioned in my comments here, and as I mention in the evidence as filed before the Board, it's my view that the C&C mechanism, as I have designed it ‑‑ or, should I say, as I've codified it as a framework for the consideration of the Board, is not suitable for an overall performance measure, or composite assessment, or measure of performance of the LDCs. On the other hand, I'm inclined to think that the Ontario LDCs, and certainly the Board, would want to develop such composite measures of performance.

204

And so I'm, on the one hand, delimiting the application of the mechanism to the assessment of the rate applications, to assist the Board Staff in that. On the other hand, I'm trying to set up the data structure that would enable the Board to evolve ‑‑ easily evolve towards a composite measure of performance.

205

MS. LEA:
And can you think of any prerequisites to our ability to do that?

206

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I think a concern, as we've discussed earlier this morning, just a few minutes ago, is capital measurement. And I could imagine that, if we don't get capital quite to our complete satisfaction, that the Board, and Board Staff working with the LDCs, may want to develop a better and more complete measure of capital. This all depends upon how far we get in this C&C process, here, during 2005.

207

Secondly, I would suggest that the composite measure of performance incorporate service‑quality measures. And there, to develop the composite measure, the key thing is to find a way to properly weight service quality with the direct costs of the LDCs together, in an overall composite measure.

208

And, as a general principle, I would suggest that the Board consider weighting the service‑quality measures according to the value of service quality to end‑use consumers.

209

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

210

I wonder it I could turn, then, to ask you a few questions about the evidence of others that has been filed in this proceeding. There's the evidence of Dr. Lowry ‑ and, of course, being the keeper of exhibit numbers, I don't know remember what it is ‑ oh, B.10, thank you very much. I had, in fact, written it down, but there you go.

211

So, trying to be a little more eloquent, then, I would like you to consider the evidence of Dr. Lowry, which has been filed as Exhibit B.10 in this proceeding.

212

Do you have any fundamental disagreement with Dr. Lowry's general discussion at pages 10 through 28 of his evidence, and also the appendices to his report?

213

MR. CAMFIELD:
On the pages that you reference, Dr. Mark Lowry does a nice job of defining the principles that underlie benchmarking, and certainly those are the principles that I harbour as well. So thus, I concur with his general discussion.

214

MS. LEA:
And is he basically correct in his summary of your general method that he outlines at page 29 of his evidence?

215

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I would concur once again. I think that Dr. Lowry has the correct interpretation and summary.

216

MS. LEA:
Okay. I wonder if I could ask you to turn to page 41 of Dr. Lowry's evidence.

217

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have it.

218

MS. LEA:
Thank you. At page 41 of Exhibit B.10, there is a section entitled, "Use of the Results." And I'm looking at the paragraph, or partial paragraph, which begins, "Given the many uncertainties ..." It is the second sentence there, beginning with your name, that sentence reads:

219

"Camfield and the Board should, additionally, acknowledge that the methodology is highly experimental and may generate certain partial results that do not by themselves suggest operating inefficiency."

220

I wonder if you could comment on that statement, please.

221

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, it's my view that describing the C&C mechanism as "highly experimental" isn't quite correct. It certainly is new, it is forward‑looking. It does have an experimental character to it, but I wouldn't say it's highly experimental in the sense that it's, say, new software that hasn't been tested. I would say that the methodologies that I plan to incorporate into the practical application of the framework, the C&C mechanism or framework, are well‑known, and these methods have been utilized repeatedly. We know a lot about distribution services. We have worked with the LDC stakeholders and we think that ‑‑ I wouldn't characterize it as highly experimental.

222

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

223

At page 33 of his evidence ‑‑ well, let me back up a bit. You've agreed that the problem with measurement of capital is something that you'll have to grapple with if the Board decides to proceed with the analysis of comparators and cohorts for 2006 rate applications. Dr. Lowry, at page 33, seems to suggest that the Board should concentrate on operating expenses benchmarking for the 2006 EDR update. Do you believe that the capital measure should be excluded, or the Board should concentrate on operating expenses? Where do you fall on that question?

224

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, I feel that the Board should emphasize capital and the operating expense dimensions of resource inputs. I think we must focus on capital. Capital is a very large component of total cost of the LDCs in providing for LDC services. It is something that we just must do. So the notion of excluding capital from the analyses is something that, I think, just won't work.

225

MS. LEA:
At page 35 of his evidence, Dr. Lowry suggests that your choice of gross rather than net asset values is controversial. Can you comment on that.

226

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. Well, I think he has it right. I think it is controversial. The reason that I used gross assets in lieu of net assets as a measure of capital in the proof of concept of studies that I did, the regression analysis, is that I am inclined to think that under an environment of significant inflation, in historical years anyway, coupled with the long‑life nature of capital, where the depreciation rates may overstate the rate of depreciation in the ‑‑ or depletion in the services of capital, that my thinking is that gross assets is perhaps a better reflection of the implicit net capital stock than would be net assets. And for that reason, I chose to use gross assets.

227

On the other hand, it's appropriate to recognize that it is, indeed, controversial, and one can arguably say that if you don't know what the net capital stock really is, the underlying implicit value of capital, then it would be appropriate to, yes, use net assets.

228

MS. LEA:
But you're choosing, in this circumstance, to use gross assets.

229

MR. CAMFIELD:
So far, yes. I've talked about this with my project staff at LRCA, Laurits R. Cristensen, my consulting group. And we rolled it around and just, at the end of the day, thought that we would use, at least at this preliminary level, gross assets. We did not test for net assets, so it's on our list.

230

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

231

At page 31 of his evidence, Dr. Lowry suggests that treating customer care services on a consolidated basis would be advisable as opposed to disaggregating it. For the 2005/6 exercise that you're engaged in, is this a worthwhile suggestion that you would adopt?

232

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I think it is just fine to consolidate, what I call, customer services or customer care activities into a composite for purposes of the 2006 EDR analysis, at least as far as the C&C mechanism is concerned. This largely depends upon whether there are significant customer service activities or not. The idea that under ‑‑ what's my motivation, should I say, in breaking out customer services as an unbundled services is that, as I mention in the study, Exhibit B.4, is that just looking at and understanding the general direction in distribution services and service unbundling, that I'm inclined to expect substantial growth in customer services as provided by the LDCs. These are largely separable services, though not completely, so it would seem to me that it's appropriate as the Board moves forward, beyond the 2006 EDR, to seriously consider breaking out and having the LDCs report a separate customer service category.

233

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

234

Dr. Lowry criticizes your selection of comparators at pages 4 and elsewhere in the report. Can you indicate to us what drove that selection?

235

MR. CAMFIELD:
The comparators that I have used, at least so far, nothing is really too final at this point, are largely the comparators. In this case, we're referring to the step 4 of the C&C mechanism, and I use the term comparative diagnostics. And these are the comparatives that I understand have been recommended by the C&C working group. They are consistent with my thinking of what might be valuable to the Board Staff. And quite frankly, when I think about this and how we might want to proceed in the future, is that because this is for the Board Staff and for use by the Board Staff in assessment of the rate applications, that perhaps we should ask them what would be the most valuable set of comparators. But at this point, I don't take issue with the set that I have presented which, as I say, largely parallels those recommended by the stakeholders.

236

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

237

At page 38 of his evidence, Dr. Lowry gives suggestions with respect to the statistical clustering analysis. Are there any of those suggestions that you would like to comment on?

238

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, first of all, moving ahead here and should the Board adopt the C&C mechanism as, at least in some form or in the approach that I suggest, it's appropriate to recognize that the clustering analysis which determines the cohorts and determines the placement of the LDCs within peer groups is, I think, the area of the greatest challenge. It's that plus the measurement of capital that I see as the major challenges in all this.

239

Now, in the case of cluster analysis and the use of these techniques, there are a number of variations. And so certainly, the concern I have is that we consider the full range of possible ways that we want to cluster or group the LDCs into peer group cohorts.

240

MS. LEA:
Okay. Thank you.

241

And my last question with respect to Dr. Lowry's evidence concerns his ‑‑ the concern he expresses, at pages 20 and 21, about a possible degradation in the quality of regulatory decisions ‑‑ decision‑making, if some form of benchmarking is adopted. Do you share his concerns?

242

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I would say it is something that the Board wants to consider. But it is important to recognize that the C&C mechanism is a device to screen, to assist the Board Staff. It's not benchmarking, per se. It's not intended to benchmark or judge overall performance. And it would seem to me that it's fully consistent with the Board's mandate for appropriate cost‑of‑service‑based prudence review to ensure that the costs that underlie LDC prices are appropriate. And it seems to me that the mechanism contributes to that overall process.

243

I don't think there is danger ‑ at least, significant danger of any magnitude at all ‑ regarding the application and use of a C&C mechanism. I think, if anything, in the longer term, this sort of mechanism, which provides a ‑‑ kind of, an element of contestability, would have a tendency to lower costs of the LDCs overall, for the benefit of all, including the LDCs, LDC investors and, certainly, the consumers of the province.

244

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

245

I wonder if I could ask you just a couple of questions about the evidence filed by Energy Probe.

246

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

247

MS. LEA:
The evidence here is numbered in paragraphs and it ‑‑ I would wonder if you could look at paragraph 61 and 62 of the Energy Probe evidence.

248

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Sorry, Ms. Lea, what were those references?

249

MS. LEA:
It's the Energy Probe evidence, sir, and it's paragraph‑numbered. So in my copy, which was taken off the website, it's page 18, paragraph 61 and 62.

250

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

251

MS. LEA:
Do any of my friends have an exhibit list handy so they can give me the exhibit number? I thought I had one in front of me ‑‑

252

MR. WARREN:
B.11.

253

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Yes.

254

MS. LEA:
B.11? Thank you. Thank you very much, sir.

255

Mr. Camfield, in paragraph 61 and 62, there's reference to top‑down and bottom‑up analyses. I understand you've read this evidence in totality, so I'm not going to take you through it. But, in the context of what is being discussed in this evidence, can you assist us in understanding what this analysis is about, and whether you think it's something that the Board should address its mind to?

256

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. My interpretation of the Energy Probe evidence is that it would lead to a ‑‑ what is known as a "frontier approach" to assessment of efficiency or inefficiency. It's my general view that these techniques are somewhat experimental, that they are difficult to apply reliably. And I would be reluctant to use these techniques, or consider these techniques for practical application in the C&C mechanism, at least at this juncture.

257

Now, I have to say that these frontier methods are methods that my consulting group has great interest in, and we are looking into these for use in services that we provide to our clients. So there is interest, and we think that the potential is there, in the longer term, particularly for looking at overall performance ‑‑ a composite measure. But I ‑‑ at least of direct costs ‑‑ but I don't see the application of the approach for the C&C mechanism.

258

MS. LEA:
Thank you. So this is the development of an efficiency frontier, which is mentioned at paragraph 67 of the Energy Probe evidence. Is that correct?

259

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, and I think it's discussed within the context of the UK experience.

260

MS. LEA:
Have you any knowledge of the UK experience yourself, sir?

261

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

262

MS. LEA:
And do you consider that the UK situation is sufficiently similar to Ontario to provide us with guidance at this time?

263

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would suggest at one time, a number of years ago, that, arguably, the UK market structure, particularly as it relates, in this context, to distribution services, was somewhat similar to that of Ontario. There was a likeness; it seemed to be akin to Ontario. But certainly, they've done wide‑scale restructuring such that I see significant differences between the UK experience and market structure from that of Ontario.

264

MS. LEA:
Thank you very much, sir.

265

Thank you, Mr. Chair. Those are my questions of this witness. He's ready for cross‑examination.

266

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Ms. Lea.

267

Mr. Warren?

268

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

269

MR. WARREN:
Thank you, sir.

270

Mr. Camfield, my name is Robert Warren. I'm appearing today and asking these questions on behalf of two consumer groups: One is the Consumers Council of Canada, who represent residential consumers, and the second is the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, who represent, as the name implies or indicates, large consumers.

271

Ms. Lea has covered a number of questions that I intended to ask you, and I apologize in advance if I cover some of the same territory. I'll try and avoid that.

272

I'd like to begin, if I can, sir, with ‑‑ try and drill down through the objectives, as you saw it, for your report. And, in that context, in Exhibit B.4, if you could turn up page 2. You say there in the first full paragraph, towards the end, and I quote:

273

"The purpose of this report is to assist the Board and its Staff to" ‑ number one is ‑ "determine whether a comparators and cohorts mechanism is feasible and can serve as a practical tool to assist in the processing of rate applications for re‑based rates in 2005."

274

Now, that's not the only place where you use the term "feasible". You don't need to turn it up, but it occurs again on page 29 of Exhibit B.4. And I wonder if you could ‑‑ it sounds a bit like former President Clinton saying what is and is not. But can you tell me, sir, what your use of the term "feasible" is, in this context?

275

MR. CAMFIELD:
I interpret the word "feasibility" to mean it is something workable ‑‑ is it doable, with the end goal of being a practical application.

276

MR. WARREN:
Sorry to be Clintonesque about this, sir, but when you say "it's workable," let me put it in this context: I take it, in reading your report, and from your exchange with Ms. Lea just now, that you believe that the C&C mechanism, as you have outlined it, can operate as a screening tool in assessing the applications. Correct?

277

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

278

MR. WARREN:
And am I correct in understanding that by "screening tool," it would help to observe ‑‑ it would help the Board Staff to identify utilities which are anomalies, that is, that they are way off, one way or the other, from the norm. Is that fair?

279

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I would use the term, and I have used the term, "highlight" cost anomalies that may suggest further investigation of the subject LDC's rate application in some way.

280

MR. WARREN:
Now, do I understand it, sir, that you are confident ‑ and I'll get to the question of data quality in greater detail in a moment ‑ but that you're confident that the use ‑‑ the employment of the C&C mechanism, as you described it, will throw up cost anomalies in a way that's fair to the utilities; in other words, that it provides a fair comparison of one utility to another?

281

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I think the important thing that we need to focus on is the reliability of that highlighting process ‑‑ that identification process. And the highlighting of that is contingent upon two things: the quality of the data and then, secondly, the quality of the statistical estimation methodology itself. Those are the two key things.

282

MR. WARREN:
What do you envisage utilities ‑‑ if a utility appears as an anomaly, what do you then envisage the utility doing by way of responding to its being identified as an anomaly?

283

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, gosh, I don't know what they might do. This would be information that would be provided in our report to the Board Staff and used by Board Staff, as we understand, in its investigation of the rate applications. So let me just opine on the scenario here.

284

Some LDC is identified as having some high cost category vis‑a‑vis its comparator or peer group. So the Board Staff notes this and then begins to drill down and look at the rate application and see how this conforms with the rate application. I would imagine that, if they wish to pursue this further, that Board Staff would provide a data or information anomaly ‑‑ excuse me, I mean to say a data or information interrogatory request, an inquiry about the cost experience that they observe, Board Staff observes. They would then inquire about some dimension of this cost experience, and it would be up to the responsibility of the LDC to respond to that.

285

MR. WARREN:
Do you ‑‑ would you contemplate the possibility, sir, that a utility or utilities identified as an anomaly would be in a position to attack, that may be too aggressive a term but I'll use it for the moment, but attack the reliability of the C&C methodology? In other words, is the Board, six months hence or five months hence when it does that, is it going to be back here in some kind of forum, written or oral, with an attack on the feasibility, reliability or accuracy of the C&C methodology that you proposed?

286

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, I would say that's possible. I think that's a potential, no doubt, that Board and Board Staff face. But I'm inclined to think that the interrogatory that I speak of in my example issued by Board Staff is not going to necessarily draw exclusively upon the analyses of a C&C mechanism. I think they will use it in light of a composite set of information that they have about the utility in question, about the application of the utility as well, and will take this information, the C&C mechanism analysis results, and utilize it within an envelope of a larger set of information in the assessment of the application.

287

MR. WARREN:
All right. Thanks for that.

288

I'll get back to a variety of those questions in a moment. I want to just ask you at the outset, sir, in terms of the work that you did in coming up with your report, I take it that you, from your answer to Ms. Lea, that you examined the information that had been filed as part of the PBR mechanism in 2002, 2003; is that correct?

289

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

290

MR. WARREN:
Did you, in the course of your ‑‑ preparing your study, actually talk to any of the LDCs about what data they had and the way it was collected, and recorded, and so forth?

291

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, yes. This was discussed in the meetings that I had with the LDC ‑‑ excuse me, the C&C working group.

292

MR. WARREN:
To be more precise, sir, did you actually visit the LDCs to examine their data, the way they collected that data? Did you ask them questions about the difficulties they might have in assembling some of the data you've asked for? Did you ask them questions about the costs, that kind of examination of the utility, the LDCs, I'm sorry?

293

MR. CAMFIELD:
No.

294

MR. WARREN:
Now, you spoke to Ms. Lea a moment ago about LDCs that would be excluded, I take it, from the C&C analysis for 2005. And one of those was Hydro One Networks; correct?

295

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is correct, as far as the remote communities are concerned.

296

MR. WARREN:
You say only as far as the remote communities. Would you be looking at Hydro One Networks as it operates outside of the remote communities?

297

MR. CAMFIELD:
There is one organization within the Hydro One composite organization known as Brampton, and at this point, I am intending to use or include Brampton within the analyses.

298

MR. WARREN:
Now, are there any other of the Ontario utilities that you're aware of that, to use a pompous lawyer's term, are sui generis? So unusual that it could not fairly be included in the C&C analysis without wowing it in some way? I'm thinking, in particular ‑‑ let me provide you with a context for that.

299

Not terribly long ago, the Board was engaged in an analysis of an examination of how it should dispose of ‑‑ how the utility should be allowed to dispose of what we'll call regulatory assets. And in the course of that, a number of the utilities, including Toronto Hydro and, I believe, Mississauga Hydro, said, We're different. You can't compare us to anybody else, we're unique and special. In your examination of the Ontario utilities, would anyone, other than the ones you've identified, that is the aboriginal communities and Hydro One Networks, fall into the category of so different that they shouldn't properly be included in C&C analysis?

300

MR. CAMFIELD:
None that I can think of, and I have discussed this issue with Board Staff a bit.

301

MR. WARREN:
Okay. Let me just drill down through that a bit. I don't want to speak for other counsel who will represent their clients here, but I'm sure this argument will arise. The argument has been made, at least in an inchoate form, that Toronto Hydro has unique service characteristics, given the size of the population, the density of the population, the mix of commercial, industrial, and residential. How would you find a cohort in which Toronto Hydro would fit comfortably?

302

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, the C&C mechanism will identify, at least as I have designed it, the framework will identify relationships, as the study discusses, between cost drivers and costs. These cost drivers include the levels of services provided. It includes, in some cases, substitution resources, such as capital, within operating expense analyses. It includes business context variables.

303

Now, to the degree that the analyses does not capture the full of business context of Toronto Hydro, in your example, then indeed it is different. It is idiosyncratic. But that's always a concern. I mean, we may find an LDC here or there that the model just doesn't fit very well. That's certainly possible.

304

MR. WARREN:
And how ‑‑ and at what stage of the analysis would you identify the ‑‑ let me ask first this question: Is it idiosyncratic with respect to individual cost drivers or with respect to its position overall in a C&C mechanism? In other words, is it possible that the characteristics of the given utility may be such that they simply can't be fit into the C&C mechanism at all, or is it just with respect to particular cost drivers?

305

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say the latter.

306

MR. WARREN:
And what stage of the analysis would that be determined? Is it based on the data that they file or when that data is then fit into the C&C mechanism?

307

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, the determination of, say ‑‑ let's just set this up as, kind of, a context for the question. Let's imagine that we have an LDC that has an unusual business context that is implicit within the data that it files. The determination of a uniqueness, of idiosyncratic attributes that make it unusual would be not determined in the filing of the data, but would be determined in the analyses based upon the data.

308

MR. WARREN:
Okay.

309

MR. CAMFIELD:
I should mention that there's some statistical ways to account for unusual experience that is unique to a few LDCs, in lieu of the others.

310

MR. WARREN:
Would the LDCs know that in advance of the filing, sir, that there are ways of accommodating apparently idiosyncratic circumstances? I'm thinking of the fairness issue in all of this, because they have to account for it.

311

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think, as a general rule, that at least when you think at a very high level here about regulatory process, and drawing upon my regulatory economics background here, that it's a generally‑accepted principle that the regulated utilities have an information advantage over the regulators.

312

Now, in this particular application, the C&C mechanism framework is requesting specific sets of information ‑‑ that specific set of information to be filed by all LDCs will be used in the analyses. So I don't see any provision to allow for specific characteristics in the file for information, providing that we have that information accurate.

313

MR. WARREN:
Let me then turn, sir, to the topic of reporting requirements. And in this context, if you might turn up Exhibit B.4, page 11.

314

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have it.

315

MR. WARREN:
On that page, sir, you indicate at the beginning of the first ‑‑ sorry, second full paragraph, after the two indented numbered sections, you say ‑‑ second sentence reads, and I quote:

316

"While the LDCs need to expand their filing with supplemental data and information, much of the data and information appear to be present and readily available, and is currently being filed."

317

Now, if you could just, metaphorically, keep your thumb on that page, and then turn to page 29 of your report, you say at the top of the page:

318

"However, we caution that complete and unambiguous data, as reported, is necessary in order for the comparators and cohorts mechanism to achieve its full advantage, to facilitate in the gains and efficiency of the regulatory process."

319

And then, a little further down, under the heading "Findings and Recommendations," the second paragraph in that, you say:

320

"While the 2002/2003 LDC panel data are limited by both inconsistency in reported information and by data omissions, and limited in the range of information, it is clear that underlying relationships exist, and, indeed, have to be discovered, and the exploratory proof of concept analysis presented herewith."

321

Now, the reason I put those portions of your report to you is that they contain some anomalies, which I'd like, if possible, to have you explain.

322

You indicate that the data is currently being filed ‑ that's the quote I put to you on page 11 ‑ and then you refer ‑‑ you use the vocabulary of inconsistencies and omissions and gaps in the data.

323

Now, I wonder, sir, if we could then just ‑‑ taking those apparently contradictory statements, I want to try and get a handle on where the gaps and omissions are, first, and what problems those gaps and omissions have given rise to in your analysis.

324

The third thing I'd like to do is take a look at precisely what it is that has to be filed by the utilities. And I appreciate, in this context, that you filed Exhibit 6.3, which is the form. But that form doesn't tell me anything. I just glanced at it this morning. That form doesn't tell me anything about where the gaps and omissions are within the stuff that's already been filed, okay?

325

And finally, sir, I'd like to, if I can ‑ this is the fourth category, to give you some heads‑up on where I'm going ‑ I want to get a sense from you of whether you know the degree of difficulty and cost for the utilities in filing information they don't have, and filling in the gaps and/or eliminating the inconsistencies.

326

So, with that general background, sir, maybe what we can turn to, as a shorthand way of doing this, your Exhibit 6.3, which is this schema here, okay?

327

Now, under the heading category of "Labour," you have Xs in the left‑hand column which indicates that, as I understand it, this is necessary data. You have to have it in order for the C&C mechanism to work. Correct?

328

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

329

MR. WARREN:
And you indicate that it is already reported in the third column over, under the PBR. In that category, sir, are there gaps or omissions or inconsistencies in what you've seen?

330

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

331

MR. WARREN:
And what are the nature of the gaps and inconsistencies?

332

MR. CAMFIELD:
Imagine an LDC that says it has employee benefits showing up as costs, but has no employees. I would suggest that's a concern.

333

MR. WARREN:
Okay. Have you, sir ‑‑ in connection with this category, have you prepared for Board Staff what is termed, in other contexts, "a gap analysis"? That is ‑‑

334

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, no. We could do that, but we have not done that. Please understand that this report, including the building of the framework, trying to understand the context, building the framework and getting the data, understanding the data, conducting the analysis in the proof of concept, plus writing and filing the report, was done in about 12 days. So, I mean, I just haven't had a chance to look deeply at the data. But there's no question that we could do that.

335

MR. WARREN:
Please understand, Mr. Camfield, I'm not being critical of you ‑‑

336

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, no, I understand. But what I'm ‑‑

337

MR. WARREN:
‑‑ What I'm trying to get a handle on ‑‑

338

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ if we're going to go down the road of a gap analysis, I don't know that I'm prepared to get into the real details of the data today, here, and I'm really sorry for that.

339

In a different context, maybe, where I can have, in a conference call, my technical staff back at LRCA, we could answer your questions.

340

MR. WARREN:
You're being unnecessarily defensive. I'm not, in any sense, being critical. What I'm trying to understand, going forward, is the degree of difficulty that everyone may face in getting the C&C mechanism to work effectively, as you've conceived of it, and try and get a handle, if we can, on the cost burden that this may impose on the LDCs in order to arrive at it.

341

So you can do a gap analysis for the category of labour. At a very high level of generality, given the data you've looked at ‑ and I appreciate that you haven't done this analysis ‑ at a very high level of generality, are the gaps significant? Is there a lot more information that you need in order to have sufficient data for the labour category?

342

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would consider it to be a concern, but it's a concern that recognizes that, with work, and with some interaction with, of course, Board Staff, with the LDCs, where you can define some data limitations, that probably phone calls, a brief discussion, can resolve many of the issues.

343

MR. WARREN:
Let me turn to the next two categories on Exhibit 6.3, distribution plant and billings and collections. Now, for both of those, each of those categories are marked with an X, which indicates that they are necessary for your C&C analysis. Correct?

344

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

345

MS. LEA:
With the exception, I think ‑‑ Mr. Warren, you might want to look at the last category in billings and collections.

346

MR. WARREN:
Oh, I'm sorry, yes. Right. Capitalized labour and purchased outside construction services. With the exception ‑ thank you, Ms. Lea ‑ that they're marked with an X, and the indication is that they are not already reported, so we have a gap ‑‑ we don't need a gap analysis, we know what the gap is. My question to you is: Do you have any sense, as you sit here today, of what would be involved for the utilities, in terms of degree of difficulty, in obtaining this information and filing?

347

MR. CAMFIELD:
I do.

348

MR. WARREN:
You do?

349

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

350

MR. WARREN:
Is it difficult to get?

351

MR. CAMFIELD:
No. What we're talking about here ‑‑ this is dealing with, as you've identified, capital. And we're suggesting that the utilities, rather than report total assets, we break out the assets into the unbundled services of wires interconnections, billings and collections, customer services. But this aligns, as best I can tell, perfectly, with the uniform system of accounts and this is readily available. I can go through the accounts and identify this. So if the utilities, the LDCs, follow the uniform system of accounts, there should be no difficulty here.

352

MR. WARREN:
Just skipping over a category, on page 2 of this exhibit, is the same true of administration services, that that information is reasonably, readily available?

353

MR. CAMFIELD:
As far as capital is concerned, in administrative services, we've got an issue. The issue ‑‑ this is not what I would call a gap analysis, this is an issue of how highly the uniform system of accounts allows one to separate and record capital. Let me be more specific. In the case of these items, these capital items as I list them here, office equipment, computer software, my concern is that, particularly as it relates to computer software, communications equipment, that this would generally be rolled together in general plant and that the capital that I identify for administrative services and general plant would ‑‑ those general plant accounts, capital items for wires and interconnections and customer services.

354

So to the degree that you can unbundle that general plant capital items into the unbundled services would be a concern, but I don't consider that to be a gap analysis.

355

MR. WARREN:
With respect to ‑‑

356

MR. CAMFIELD:
Or data gap issue.

357

MR. WARREN:
Now, with respect to operating expenses, all of the information contained in that category is marked with an X, if I look at it or read it correctly. And for all of the information in operating expenses ‑‑ sorry, I may be wrong. Top of page 4, historical measures and output. There are no Xs on that, that's an operating expense? It appears to be in that category. No, I'm sorry, it's category outputs. I apologize. I'm misreading it.

358

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's outputs, I think.

359

MR. WARREN:
So you've got yeses in all of the three, with the exception of customer service. Where you've got yeses, is that subject to a gap analysis? Did you find inconsistencies or gaps in the information filed in those categories?

360

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

361

MR. WARREN:
Significant gaps?

362

MR. CAMFIELD:
I, frankly, don't recall.

363

MR. WARREN:
With respect to all of the ‑‑

364

MR. CAMFIELD:
Let me be a little more complete. As I was looking at the data this morning at 3:30, and ‑‑

365

MR. WARREN:
Beats me, sir.

366

MR. CAMFIELD:
In the case of operations and maintenance expenses ‑ the fire alarm went off in the hotel ‑ the operations and maintenance expenses looked good to me. So I would say that almost assuredly there is going to be some issue in every one of these categories, for every LDC, but I wouldn't say, in the case of O&M expenses, that it's serious.

367

MR. WARREN:
Category output, sir, beginning on the top of page 3. For all of them, except the historical ones on the next page, but all of the ones that appear on page 3, you indicate that they are both critical but the data is being filed. Did you find gaps and omissions and inconsistencies within the data filed?

368

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

369

MR. WARREN:
Okay. And again, sir, at a very high level of generality, is it your view that it would be a significant task to fill those gaps?

370

MR. CAMFIELD:
No.

371

MR. WARREN:
Turning over to page 4, sir, peak demand. Again, actually for all the peak demands kilometres of conductors as a measures of transport service and ‑‑ sorry, those two. In both of those categories, critical information, and, in both, the information is filed. Again, sir, at a high level of generality, were there gaps and omissions and inconsistencies?

372

MR. CAMFIELD:
Not very much. The data looked very good here, as I recall. I don't want to say too much, because I frankly can't say too much about the data. I'd need to look at it more thoroughly to give a firm answer.

373

MR. WARREN:
And finally, sir, in the category service territory descriptors, you've got only one X and there's no data available on that. Do you have any of the sense of degree of difficulty in getting that data?

374

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm sorry, where are you, please?

375

MR. WARREN:
Page 4, service territory descriptors. The second one, and the only one marked with an X, is Northern one or Southern Ontario. There is no information filed on that.

376

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's right, there is no information filed, but I would say that there would be no difficulty in this. This is an identification of where the LDC is, essentially. I would think that would be of no difficulty.

377

Now, the one above it there, the share of service territory that is urban, I think it's going to be ‑‑ I don't know ‑‑ I'm concerned about the accuracy of the data there because, at least it would seem to me, that it would be very difficult to accurately define the share of the territory that is urban. It could be that the LDCs know this information, but I would be concerned that it would be difficult to identify this inherently.

378

MR. WARREN:
Finally, sir, just ‑‑ I'm trying to deal, broadly speaking, with the categories of information that are marked with an X. And on page 5 there are two of them under the category of other. For one of them, weighted depreciation rates for the capital assets used in each of the unbundled services, the answer is the data is not filed. Is that data difficult to compile and file?

379

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would guess that this will take a little work. It should not be too difficult, as I understand the information that is available. I've had some discussions with Board Staff about this, that is about depreciation rates, and it seems to me we can obtain this without too much difficulty.

380

MR. WARREN:
Finally, sir, in that category, the other one marked with an X is a presence of control centre and SCADA system. You indicate that the data is filed. Is it complete data or are there gaps that need to be filled and inconsistencies eliminated?

381

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that the data is fairly complete. I was looking at this because I'm trying to construct a data series, actually, regarding control centre presence and SCADA systems, and so the data is fairly complete. I don't think there is much of a gap. I think there are serious issues about defining what is meant by control centres and what is meant by SCADA. In other words, it's not necessarily ‑‑ and you can see how I've defined this as a binary variable, but that may not be good enough. So I'm just concerned about getting a consistent definition of what constitutes control centres and data. And I think this variable has, potentially, a lot of power in explaining LDC cost and service reliability, in particular. So it's a concern.

382

MR. WARREN:
Now, let me try and summarize. I want to deal with the information that's in the Exhibit 6.3, only the X categories, that is the essential information. As we sit here today, sir, do you have any sense of the time required and the cost involved for the LDCs to assemble this data, any sense of that at all?

383

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

384

MR. WARREN:
And what is your sense of the time required and the costs involved?

385

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would describe it as minimal to modest.

386

MR. WARREN:
Would that answer, sir, apply even to very small utilities, LDCs with limited staff and, perhaps, less sophistication with respect to the giants that surround me here at counsel table?

387

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would describe this as non‑burdensome to them as well.

388

MR. WARREN:
Okay. Can I then ask about the information which is in Exhibit 6.3 that doesn't have an X on it, okay, and how is the Board to regard that information. Is that information which should be gathered in order to have a feasible C&C analysis, or is it information which can be left to the next generation of C&C analysis? What should the Board do with this stuff that isn't X‑ed?

389

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think the Board and Board Staff should go after it. But I think we can succeed with the C&C mechanism, and implement it to practical advantage, without this data. We should look at the quality ‑‑ the C&C mechanism as a ‑‑ in and of itself, as, kind of, a continuum of quality; quality in terms of understanding and explaining differences and costs. And that's an issue of reliability. So, to the degree that we have, progressively, better data, then that enables a progressively better and more reliable C&C mechanism.

390

MR. WARREN:
Now, as I understand it, the limit of your brief in this matter ‑‑ the limit of your retainer was to try and ‑‑ was to analyze the feasibility of a C&C mechanism for the 2005 rate filing. Is that correct? The Board asked you to look at this beyond 2005 ‑‑ 2006, I'm sorry.

391

MR. CAMFIELD:
My retainer is to implement to practical advantage the C&C mechanism, as I have designed it, should the Board Staff choose to go ahead. But that's the end of my responsibilities.

392

MR. WARREN:
But I take it, as I understood your response to Ms. Lea a few moments ago, that it's your view that, in the interest of efficient regulation, the Board should consider seriously continuing and ‑‑ continuing the C&C analysis in the years going forward?

393

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

394

MR. WARREN:
Okay. And would you recommend that improvements be made in the C&C mechanism as the Board goes forward?

395

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, I would imagine that, if it proves successful ‑ we can't be sure that it will prove successful ‑ that it has the potential to evolve, as I mentioned, to a more general basis to gauge overall performance, and to serve in the role of a C&C mechanism, which is more of a limited role, in future proceedings.

396

MR. WARREN:
What would be the measures of success, sir ‑‑ you said "if it proves successful." What, in your view, are the measures of success the Board should apply to this?

397

MR. CAMFIELD:
Does it help the staff, or not? To process those ‑‑ I think this can succeed. I'm excited about this, and I think the potential is substantial. On the other hand, that's ‑‑ that can't be answered until after the Board Staff has had the full chance to utilize and employ the C&C mechanism results analysis and report.

398

MR. WARREN:
You made a distinction in response to a question that Ms. Lea asked you. You made the distinction between the C&C mechanism and benchmarking. What is the difference, sir?

399

MR. CAMFIELD:
Benchmarking, to me, is a composite measure of performance.

400

MR. WARREN:
And would you recommend that the Board move towards the adoption of benchmarking?

401

MR. CAMFIELD:
Absolutely.

402

MR. WARREN:
And to the C&C mechanism that you've proposed, what needs to be added to arrive at benchmarking?

403

MR. CAMFIELD:
We would have to develop the appropriate mechanics ‑‑ technical mechanics that integrate, in the appropriate fashion, through index mechanisms, predominantly, the several unbundled services. That would give you the direct costs that we have to, in addition, bring in this envelope that I refer to as "benchmarking service‑quality considerations."

404

MR. WARREN:
Is there a substantial amount of work involved in moving from the C&C mechanism that you've proposed to full‑throttle benchmarking?

405

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think there's a considerable amount of work. The main concern is the basis to bring together, meld together, integrate very diverse measures of performance. Direct costs, we can integrate the direct costs of the unbundled services, that's no problem. But then to bring together with that service quality, I think, would be a challenge.

406

We have to understand the value of the various measures or metrics of service quality to the consumers that benefit from them, or benefit from various service quality ‑‑ service ‑‑ various services, excuse me. And to obtain that understanding of what that ‑‑ what those various service‑quality metrics are worth to end‑use consumers requires some very discrete and well‑designed survey mechanisms. So you get the ‑‑ you conduct the survey of retail consumers, glean an understanding of the value of various service‑quality measures to them, and then utilize those survey results to construct the composite.

407

MR. WARREN:
A couple of final questions, sir, on your report.

408

When the Board Staff has the data that has been filed, and uses the C&C mechanism, the mechanism will throw up, I take it, we can predict, some anomalies. There will be LDCs that will be anomalous one way or another. Is that fair?

409

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

410

MR. WARREN:
Do you, sir, have a measure or degree of anomaly that, in your view, should attract Board Staff's attention, or the Board's attention?

411

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, yes, I have some ideas about what that should be. It's something that must be incorporated into the design specification of the C&C mechanism. As you recall, I said, as we move forward here, during the year 2005, a major ‑‑ or key step is a design specification. But that can't ‑‑ that specification ‑‑ let's discuss ‑‑ let's refer to this as, kind of, an operative parameter of the analysis. That can't be determined without ‑‑ or absent what Board Staff would like to do. It could be that Board Staff would want to know and understand the ‑‑ and have highlighted, for their consideration, cost anomalies and experience that could be thinner or deeper than what I would offer up, or suggest.

412

MR. WARREN:
I'm asking you to go boldly where no one has gone before, sir. You've looked at the data. Can you tell me what it is you think is the appropriate measure of anomaly that should attract Board Staff's attention, given all that you've seen?

413

MR. CAMFIELD:
I can't say at this time because, in part, that is ‑‑ I mean, that question is integral to the performance of the models, the technical, statistical models, and the result of that performance is contingent upon the data quality, as well as model specification. I'm sorry, but I can't answer your question. I don't know.

414

MR. WARREN:
Well, let me ask you this, sir: The measure of the anomaly that will attract the Board Staff's attention, is that something that would be known in advance by the LDCs, as they file this information? Or would it only arise after the information has been filed?

415

MR. CAMFIELD:
We wouldn't know that answer until we have the data, and process and analyze the information.

416

MR. WARREN:
All right. Let's segue, sir, into the final category of questions I have for you, and that is one of particular interest to my clients. In this context, and I'm not sure you need to turn it up, but in the draft rate handbook, draft 2 of the Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, chapter 14 deals with comparators and cohorts. And chapter 14.2, dealing with filing requirements posits four alternatives for what happens with the analysis. One of them is, alternative 1 is that it's provided to Board Staff. Alternative 2 is it's provided to Board Staff and to all distributors. Alternative 3 is it's posted on the Board's website.

417

First of all, sir, would you see any objection to posting the results of this analysis on the Board's website?

418

MS. LEA:
I'm presuming, Mr. Warren, you're not asking from a legal context.

419

MR. WARREN:
No, just from a practical point of view.

420

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

421

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think the answer is dependent upon what all is revealed and how it's revealed, but as a general rule, I have no difficulty with that.

422

MR. WARREN:
My final question, sir, and this appears ‑‑ it may be the most difficult for you. And that is. How is it that we make this analysis comprehensible to the ordinary human being? And I don't mean that, despite the facetious or somewhat sarcastic tone, I don't mean it that way, sir. What I mean is the residential consumer or industrial consumer has the intuitive sense that his or her utility is pretty costly, it's a gold‑plated operation, and the one in the next community is leaner and meaner and so on and so forth. And the Board Staff is going to gather all this data and is going to publish it, and the raw data is sitting there ‑‑ or the results of the analysis are sitting there saying that utility X is 10 percent more expensive in some category than utility Y. How is it that we can meet the challenge of taking this very complicated stuff and making it understandable to the person who actually has to pay the bills at the end of the day?

423

MR. CAMFIELD:
Prices are different than costs. Prices would be of interest, I would imagine, to retail electricity consumers. So I would think that they would have little interest in looking at a lot of cost detail. I think the only relevant thing to do would be to work through and find some acceptable way to bridge between costs and prices, and do that in some composite way. I would have to think through how to do that. I know that I haven't completely answered your question.

424

MR. WARREN:
Thank you.

425

Mr. Chairman, I want your attention to the morning break. I have a very limited series of limited questions about the Lowry report, but it will take, perhaps, 10 or 15 minutes to get through.

426

MR. KAISER:
In that event, we'll break now for 15 minutes.

427

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:15 a.m.

428

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:35 a.m.

429

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

430

MS. LEA:
Mr. Camfield just stepped out for a moment suddenly. He'll return momentarily.

431

MR. KAISER:
All right.

432

MS. LEA:
Thank you, sir.

433

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Warren.

434

MR. WARREN:
Thank you, sir.

435

Mr. Camfield, I'd like to turn briefly, if I can, to Dr. Lowry's report. I'm not quite sure what to make of it. In searching for an analogy last night, I was wondering if it could be characterized as either a friendly roadside bomb or a torpedo with a smile on the end of it.

436

Let me turn up page 43 of the report. Ms. Lea has taken you through some of the details, but I want to put, if I can, the nub of his conclusion to you and see what you make of them.

437

Beginning at the top of page 43, he says: "Our analysis of the research suggests a more cautious conclusion. We find the results obtained to date do not by themselves provide sufficient support for proceeding on the course that has been recommended by Camfield. He has not provided a proof of the C&C concept."

438

Now, when I read those last two sentences, particularly the sentence, "He has not provided a proof of the C&C concept," it suggests to me, just reading that sentence by itself, that to continue on the course that you have recommended would be, in Dr. Lowry's view, a mistake.

439

He then says: "While he properly acknowledges deficiencies in the data, the collection of better data will not by itself make the C&C approach acceptable. The methodology should, in fact, be changed in several ways, if additional work is to be commissioned, to itemize the number of things that he says were done by way of the course of the record.

440

MS. LEA:
The microphones aren't working. I don't think it's anything to do with what we've done in the room.

441

Sir, I have a report of the problems from the appropriate folk, and they say they are working on it so ‑‑

442

MR. KAISER:
All right. We'll just speak up.

443

MS. LEA:
I think we can now proceed. Thanks very much.

444

MR. WARREN:
Let me say it before my friend Mr. Rogers says it, they are incomparable.

445

What I want to get at, Mr. Camfield, so I don't take more of your valuable time, is I want to know, broadly, whether you regard Dr. Lowry's critique as fatal to what it is that you have done. And let me focus it by asking you to take a look at the six bullet items that appear roughly in the middle of page 43.

446

Do you believe, sir, that ‑‑ let me ask you first generally, do you agree with his statement that you have not provided a proof of the C&C concept?

447

MR. CAMFIELD:
I disagree with his statement.

448

MR. WARREN:
And why do you disagree, sir?

449

MR. CAMFIELD:
To my mind, and I wrote the report, I've been able to demonstrate the workings of the C&C concept and I have demonstrated that the data has substantial statistical relationships among the various variables that we can build upon, and I think that's sufficient to say that it's feasible.

450

MR. WARREN:
Now, he itemizes six things which he, as I interpret his sentence, and I can put this to him later but as I interpret what he's saying, is that the six bullet items that appear roughly in the middle of page 43 are necessary in order that the C&C approach be acceptable, to use his word. Do you agree that any or all of the items which he has listed there are necessary in order to make the C&C approach acceptable?

451

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, let's go through them. It's inappropriate, I believe, to characterize these as needed mid‑course corrections, and that's because these items largely relate to design specification, which is part of our task in this year, calendar year 2005, prior to implementing the C&C mechanism for practical advantage, should the Board proceed with it at all.

452

Exclusion of capital costs as a cost‑performance variable: As I mentioned, we need to consider capital. You need capital included in any broad‑based or narrowly‑defined measure of performance. The LDC resource‑mix is largely capital.

453

The consolidation of treatment of customer‑care responses: In response to Ms. Lea's question, I've indicated that, for this round, the EDR 2006, that we concur.

454

The use of restricted cost equations or functions to guide OpEx model design: That's, certainly, our plan. Incidentally, the discussion ‑‑ or representation of my OpEx equation as a restricted cost ‑‑ function ‑‑ or equation, is correct. But it's also appropriate to call this as ‑‑ an implicit demand‑for‑resources function. I can show that analytically, if we want to get into it.

455

Reporting of key clustering analysis statistics: This came up in the discussion of the presentation on January 6 and, certainly, that's our plan. This is, again, a design specification and reporting issue to follow, and to perform, during 2005.

456

Reconsiderations of the comparators: I think they ‑‑ this would relate to step 4 of my mechanism, the diagnostic comparison ‑‑ or comparators. And, as I've said on the record here, the concern about these ‑‑ or, at least, the consideration of these, is appropriate. These are partial cost measures. They are not intended to be general cost comparisons. They are specifically designed to assist the Staff, and we should ask the Staff what they would like, as I've mentioned. Development of a statistical test of efficiency hypotheses: I would certainly concur with that.

457

Have I answered your question?

458

MR. WARREN:
You have, sir.

459

My final question, then, is the acknowledgments that Dr. Lowry feels that you and the Board should make. Could I get your observations with respect to each of those ‑‑ the appropriateness and the necessity of each of those acknowledgments?

460

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, the first one, the econometric models used for statistical clustering, should be specified using clearly‑defined roles. I would certainly concur with that. I think those roles need to be a general guideline. I really do not want to be constrained too much, because I can't tell what I'm going to find in the second round analyses that will be used for development of the entire mechanism and analysis, should the Board choose to go ahead with it. But certainly, a general rule there is something that I would concur with.

461

The comparators are not necessarily, in and of themselves, selectively, stand‑alone measures of operating efficiency in total, I would read into that. And I would concur with that. As I've mentioned earlier in my evidence in‑chief, these are partial measures.

462

Benchmarking results contain a high level of uncertainty: Hmm, I don't know if it's high or it's low. I think it's a matter of reliability, and there is a continuum of possible reliability levels that can be attained. It's a matter of how good we do the modeling, and, secondly, how good the data is. So is it highly uncertain? Might be, but not necessarily. Could be highly reliable. There's some level of uncertainty, certainly.

463

Inaccurate benchmarking methods can lead to assessments that are unfair: I agree with that. Now whether that translates into operating risks or not, I'm not sure. We should mention that there's another side of the coin here. Let's imagine that the modeling exercise points out that some LDCs have very favorable or superior cost performance. That would seem to be the right thing to do, to highlight the very positive performance that they have realized.

464

MR. WARREN:
My final question, apropos Dr. Lowry, is that there are repeated references, throughout his pre‑filed evidence, to the critical importance of accuracy in the information, in order to do your analysis. Do you concur with his view that accuracy is an important element in the C&C mechanism?

465

MR. CAMFIELD:
Certainly, as we have discussed in ‑‑

466

MR. WARREN:
And, with the existing data, and the additional data that you and I discussed before the break, that you're going to obtain, do you feel that you can obtain a sufficient degree of accuracy to meet Dr. Lowry's concerns on that point?

467

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would like to think that we can. When we talk about accuracy, we're talking about accuracy and describing it qualitatively, rather than quantitatively. Without a discussion with Mark ‑‑ Dr. Lowry, I would not know, precisely, how he would describe accuracy. He describes it in, certainly, statistical ‑‑ distributions ‑‑ statistical distributions ‑‑ measures of statistical distributions. I think that's the right measure. I think that, certainly, any economist would agree with that. But we would have to parameterize that distribution, if we were to move from something other than a qualitative description of accuracy.

468

MR. WARREN:
Those are my questions. Thank you very much.

469

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Warren.

470

Mr. Rogers?

471

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:

472

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

473

Good morning Mr. Camfield. My name is Don Rogers, and I represent the Goliathan of Hydro One referred to earlier.

474

And I have a few questions for you which, frankly, are different from what I envisioned, in view of your evidence. It's been very helpful to clarify some of the issues for me ‑‑ some of the concerns that I had about your evidence.

475

Can we just start with a couple of preliminaries, however, to make sure I have it right. Your recommendation, as I understand it, is that the C&C methodology be employed and developed to enable Board Staff ‑‑ or to a assist Board Staff to screen, and screen, only, applications for rate increases for 2006.

476

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. Yes, I think I have sufficient evidence of its feasibility, and it's worthy of pursuit and development.

477

MR. ROGERS:
Right. And you have acknowledged this morning, very clearly, that this is in the early stages of development, and you really haven't thought it all through yet, in fairness.

478

MR. CAMFIELD:
I believe I have a very clear vision of how to proceed.

479

MR. ROGERS:
I'm not saying that.

480

MR. CAMFIELD:
The concern is that model specification ‑‑ the parameterization of the mechanism, as a whole, should I say, is the immediate concerns that I have.

481

MR. ROGERS:
You pointed out this morning ‑ which I had not realized ‑ that you ‑‑ from the time that you were retained, until you produced the paper on which I was relying for my information, it was 12 days.

482

MR. CAMFIELD:
Short.

483

MR. ROGERS:
So it's not surprising that there are areas where you have not fleshed out fully what your intentions were; correct?

484

MR. CAMFIELD:
Fleshed out, exactly, some of the technical ‑‑ more exactly, should I say, Mr. Rogers, the technical details of how to specify the models.

485

MR. ROGERS:
Some of Dr. Lowry's comments, which he prepared at our request, helped to elucidate on what ‑‑ on some of those specifics.

486

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think that's right.

487

MR. ROGERS:
And I've heard you just say now, you accept almost all of what his recommendations are, with a few exceptions. And I'm not suggesting you wouldn't have thought of them yourself, sir, I'm just saying that you have agreement with him on most of the things that he recommends for inclusion in the process, with a few exceptions.

488

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's several exceptions.

489

MR. ROGERS:
That's fine. We'll talk about those briefly in a moment. As I say, I act for Hydro One, and I've heard you say this morning that Hydro One will be excluded from this process for 2006, with the exception of Brampton, perhaps.

490

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

491

MR. ROGERS:
Forgive me, but how about after 2006? What do you see the use of this methodology, as it is developed, with respect to applying it to Hydro One?

492

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, it's certainly possible. The question is how we might do that. So I could imagine characterizing within the data set Hydro One LDCs in some fashion. I could imagine proceeding, Mr. Rogers, in a way, that would be a separate C&C mechanism for the Hydro One LDCs. I frankly haven't thought about that a lot. It's probably pretty clear.

493

MR. ROGERS:
Now, will I be able to say if some parties try to use whatever comes out of this process, if it does proceed, to compare Hydro One to other utilities, that I have it from Robert Camfield that that's absolutely inappropriate?

494

MR. CAMFIELD:
In the 2006?

495

MR. ROGERS:
Yes.

496

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

497

MR. ROGERS:
Now, tell me if you would you, please, how exactly this will work with respect to the other utilities. Let's assume we're going to go ahead with this screening, and I appreciate a lot of the details are yet to be worked out, but how will it work in practice as you see it? You've talked about that a little bit this morning, but you will run the statistical analysis, you'll take the data and you'll look at it, and you, along with Board Staff I guess, will decide which ones are significant enough to require further scrutiny of certain utilities.

498

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, I think how the Board Staff uses the report and analyses is just about wholly their decision.

499

MR. ROGERS:
Well, fair enough. What would you recommend though? And what I'm trying to understand here, Mr. Camfield, is how this will work in practice. If I was a small utility and I get a telephone call from Board Staff, I mean, what are they going to say? That one area of your costs are higher than the adjoining or that of a cohort utility, or all of your costs are too high, or as to how will that work in practice. Do you follow my question?

500

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, yes. I don't know. I've had no discussions with Board Staff about this. I would expect that the Board Staff, as I mentioned, Mr. Rogers, will use this information in a larger integral group of information that they might have about the application. It may be historical statistical reports, it may be financial reports, it may be on knowledge of some history and some institutional considerations that they would use in an overall envelope of information. They would say, Okay, along with that and the C&C mechanism report results, this looks like I want to explore or pursue some area.

501

MR. ROGERS:
So it might be in one area of costs, let's say, I mean, customer servicing or ‑‑

502

MR. CAMFIELD:
Sure.

503

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ line maintenance or something. And then they might send interrogatories, you envision this, to the utility to ask them to explain the anomaly or the disparity from the norm in their cohort.

504

MR. CAMFIELD:
I wouldn't say that that is my vision. I wouldn't envision that the interrogatory would specifically reference some cohort comparison, but rather would be exploring through some questions in the interrogatory that would go to any length of addressing what might be highlighted by the cost anomaly. That is, the cost anomaly as reported by the C&C mechanism, it would seem to me, and I must confess to the Board that I haven't thought about this until Mr. Rogers has asked these difficult questions, would just be information. But there may be cause that the results of the report, let's use the term cost anomaly, along with other information on other elements of the C&C report, plus other information, would give rise to an inquiry on some matter related to costs and cost performance that could be unrelated directly to what was highlighted by the C&C mechanism itself.

505

In other words, I don't want to say ‑‑ I'm reluctant to say, because frankly I don't know, if there's a close linkage between a cost anomaly result as reported to a specific line of inquiry by Board Staff. I just don't know. I suppose it would be possible, certainly.

506

MR. ROGERS:
Dr. Lowry expresses in his report, as you know, some concerns about the regulatory process, and you touched upon that this morning, and the danger that he sees, the potential problem that could arise from this from a regulatory fairness standpoint, apart from other standards of law that might be a problem. But am I right in my understanding that the ‑‑ first of all, that the data that you've used in your work to date is confidential data that has not been shared with the committee members?

507

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's my understanding.

508

MR. ROGERS:
And would it also be true, then, that if this process goes ahead and we use this new technique to screen for rate making, that the data on which the screening is based would be confidential?

509

MS. LEA:
I'm not sure, Mr. Rogers, the witness, can answer that. It's kind of a legal question and it depends on what the Board may direct in the actual handbook, that's part of what we may invite parties to direct their arguments to. It is that, should the information be filed publicly and everything public, or parts of it private.

510

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you, Ms. Lea. I accept that, and perhaps it's unfair to ask Mr. Camfield, but the analysis is based on filings made by individual utilities along the lines that you've set out in the Exhibit 6.3, that's your concept.

511

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

512

MR. ROGERS:
And I guess it's true to say that it's up to the Board whether or not that information is made public or shared with all utilities, but would you think there would be a problem of the utilities providing this information if they thought it was going to be shared with other utilities and the public at large?

513

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't have a sense of the sensitivity of the data and information from the perspective of the LDCs. It might be a great concern. I'll say this, that in the United States, the data and information defined in the exhibit that we're discussing ‑‑

514

MR. ROGERS:
6.3.

515

MR. CAMFIELD:
6.3, yes. As we're discussing it here, is largely available as public information. The concern that I have would with saying yes to the idea that it's not a problem is my concern about granularity. And granularity is, in my view, the core problem the Ontario LDCs, and to some extent, certainly, the Board faces. That is to say, by just the properties of numbers, you'd expect that as the size of an LDC becomes progressively smaller, the granularity becomes greater, then the costs associated with progressively smaller LDCs will become progressively more idiosyncratic. If you combine them into larger groups randomly, by design, large numbers would suggest that they would become more common, as regards to cost level. So granularity weighs into the sensitivity, at least it would seem to me, but I must say I'm, if you please, on weak ground here.

516

MR. ROGERS:
What we're dealing with is this confidentiality issue or data issue. It's not really a confidentiality issue, but you have filed this morning Exhibit 6.3 which outlines your current thinking as to what data would be required to go forward with this process. I just got this yesterday. I'm not critical of that, but you made some comments this morning, to my friend's questions, that you don't believe providing this data will be any problem ‑ I think it's fair to say, to paraphrase you ‑ for the utilities, or a modest problem.

517

MR. CAMFIELD:
A burden.

518

MR. ROGERS:
It would be a modest burden, but not a significant burden for them.

519

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't think so ‑‑

520

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ but at least ‑‑

521

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ and I'm drawing upon my experience in working with small utilities and with large utilities, and a lot of data, I don't think it would be. I could be wrong about that. I haven't discussed this, specifically.

522

MR. ROGERS:
Thank you, that was my question. So you haven't discussed this, and you could be wrong ‑‑

523

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I could be wrong.

524

MR. ROGERS:
And if you were wrong, I assume that you would modify the requests for data? If you were persuaded ‑‑

525

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would certainly consider it.

526

MR. ROGERS:
You would consider it.

527

One of the things that you ‑‑

528

MR. CAMFIELD:
I should mention that ‑‑ I'm sorry for interrupting you, Mr. Rogers, that it's not necessarily my decision on that sort of issue.

529

MR. ROGERS:
I appreciate that. And you understand, Mr. Camfield, that this is a collaborative process that we're involved in here, and my client has an interest in this, even though the principal part of my client is not going to be directly affected by it. You can understand why they might think it was important to try to get the initial steps as correctly positioned as possible, before proceeding?

530

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

531

MR. ROGERS:
You agree that's a reasonable approach for them to take?

532

MR. CAMFIELD:
It seems plausible.

533

MR. ROGERS:
And a responsible position for them to take?

534

MR. CAMFIELD:
If you say it's responsible, I accept that.

535

MR. ROGERS:
Well, I mean we've put forward the evidence of Dr. Lowry, whom you know, I think, don't you?

536

MR. CAMFIELD:
Personally.

537

MR. ROGERS:
And Dr. Lowry is someone with experience in this area.

538

MR. CAMFIELD:
Undoubtedly.

539

MR. ROGERS:
And I'm sure you respect his opinions.

540

MR. CAMFIELD:
I do.

541

MR. ROGERS:
So I want you to understand that his evidence is put forth in that spirit, that my client wishes to assist in developing this process as efficiently and as completely as possible. Do you accept that?

542

MR. CAMFIELD:
As you state it, yes.

543

MR. ROGERS:
And I'd like you to take his report and my questions in that spirit; alright?

544

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

545

MR. ROGERS:
Good. Now, you did take issue with a few things that he said, one of which was that C&C approach I think was ‑‑ he said it was "highly experimental" in his evidence.

546

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

547

MR. ROGERS:
And, as I noted it down, you took issue with the "highly", but you agreed that it was experimental.

548

MR. CAMFIELD:
Correct.

549

MR. ROGERS:
So, whether it's "highly experimental" or whether it's "rather experimental", we can agree that this is new and ‑‑

550

MR. CAMFIELD:
New. Certainly new ‑‑

551

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ Yeah ‑‑

552

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ and "new" was the term I think I used.

553

MR. ROGERS:
Fair enough. Now, let's just talk about that. I looked at your curriculum vitae to see what experience you had in this area. You have a Master's degree in Economics, I see from your curriculum vitae.

554

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

555

MR. ROGERS:
And you mentioned earlier that you did some work on benchmarking, I think, in a Florida utility.

556

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

557

MR. ROGERS:
Do you have any other experience ‑‑ hands‑on experience dealing with benchmarking, other than the Florida utility?

558

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

559

MR. ROGERS:
What other utilities have you dealt with on benchmarking, other than the Florida experience?

560

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have benchmarked utilities cost experience, Mr. Rogers. And I'm not free to name my client, but this was some work commissioned during the 1998 period. And the utility was interested in benchmarking its costs and productivity growth over a number of years, with reference to a peer group. The peer group selection involved cluster analysis.

561

And then I did a benchmarking study on behalf of my previous work with the Southern Electric system.

562

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, any other?

563

MR. CAMFIELD:
As far as benchmarking is concerned, that would be the extent of benchmarking that I have done.

564

MR. ROGERS:
I say "benchmarking". I'm including comparisons and cohorts, C&C. Do you understand that to be part of my question?

565

MR. CAMFIELD:
The C&C mechanism, as proposed here, Mr. Rogers, is new to me.

566

MR. ROGERS:
Alright. Fair enough.

567

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have not developed a C&C mechanism quite like this before. This is new work.

568

MR. ROGERS:
The Florida utility that you dealt with, that ‑‑ you were not developing a C&C methodology for them, then, I take it.

569

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, I was not.

570

MR. ROGERS:
So we're ‑‑ I don't mean this critically, but we're all kind of learning here together, then ‑‑ you, too.

571

MR. CAMFIELD:
No doubt.

572

MR. ROGERS:
I beg your pardon? Yes?

573

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

574

MR. ROGERS:
Do you know of any other utilities where the C&C method is used for screening rate applications, such as is proposed by you here?

575

MR. CAMFIELD:
I know of no other application on this proposed mechanism.

576

MR. ROGERS:
Do you agree, sir, that if the C&C mechanism is not carefully employed, and appropriate data obtained to yield results, that there is a danger that utilities will be wrongly branded as being inefficient?

577

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, Mr. Rogers, there is danger of that.

578

MR. ROGERS:
And earlier this morning, you were being asked about whether or not the results should be posted on the website. My thought was that if we're dealing with a ‑‑ an experimental process that is new to you, and to us, would it not be rather dangerous to post the results on the Board's website, until we have more experience with the procedures, and have more confidence in the validity of its outcomes?

579

MR. CAMFIELD:
That position is certainly arguable. And this was with regards to the line of questioning, as I recall, from Mr. Ward ‑‑

580

MR. ROGERS:
Mr. Warren, yes.

581

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yeah, Warren, excuse me. And I would say that, in the granular nature of this C&C mechanism, that the danger is related directly to the granularity. So if you were to ‑‑

582

MR. ROGERS:
Let me stop you there, sir, I'm sorry. What does ‑‑ you used that term before, and I should have stopped you ‑‑

583

MR. CAMFIELD:
Disaggregated.

584

MR. ROGERS:
What? Disaggregated? That's ‑‑

585

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I wouldn't be sure ‑‑

586

MR. ROGERS:
‑‑ that's what "granularity" means?

587

MR. CAMFIELD:
As I was using the word "granularity", that's correct. Perhaps I wasn't clear.

588

MR. ROGERS:
You probably were, I just wasn't sure I understood you. But I'm sorry to interrupt you. Can you finish your answer now?

589

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I would think it's arguable to say that there is some danger of posting the C&C mechanism results, should the Board proceed to adopt some ‑‑ the C&C mechanism in some way. I think there is a danger ‑‑ I think there is, arguably, a danger imposed in posting the disaggregated results, as you're suggesting.

590

Now, the sword cuts both ways. So, for example, you can imagine the results coming out, so that some utilities might appear, because of estimation error, unfairly favorable in their cost experience. It cuts both ways.

591

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, all right. Thank you very much.

592

I want to come to the areas you disagree with Dr. Lowry that remain. As I said, these are very few now, having listened to you carefully this morning. But one main one seems to be this issue of treatment of capital costs. You're aware that he has some concerns about what is your approach to the use of capital costs in this analysis.

593

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that Dr. Lowry's concerns relate not so much to the development of capital and its inclusion as much to its inclusion at all.

594

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, no, I think that's probably right. And I will ask him to comment on that this afternoon or tomorrow, but I'd just like to explore this with you so that I can understand the differences between you.

595

I'm told, and I think you will probably find this in your Exhibit 6.2, that in telephone conversation that you had from O'Hare airport, which was really your only opportunity really to explain this, was in here you state that ‑‑ it's at page 22. Yes, here it is. It's on page 22 of your remarks. You say there that: "Measurement of capital inputs is always an issue." Well, on that, you and Dr. Lowry agree.

596

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

597

MR. ROGERS:
You say: "If possible, real capital stock will be constructed and used in lieu of an accounted based measure shown as assets." If possible, you'll do that.

598

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

599

MR. ROGERS:
As to this point, you weren't sure if that was possible to do that, I assume.

600

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

601

MR. ROGERS:
Is that still the case?

602

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, it's not absolutely an issue of is it not possible or is it possible, but rather, let's see here, I would say that it's increasingly likely that we will go down the road of a net capital stock and economic measure capital in lieu of on accounting measure.

603

MR. ROGERS:
As you described this morning.

604

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, sir.

605

MR. ROGERS:
Is that the first time, this morning, that you've described that in the public, in this debate? It's not in your report, is it?

606

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, but certainly in discussions that I've had with the stakeholder groups, this has been discussed.

607

MR. ROGERS:
I'm not being critical, you understand.

608

MR. CAMFIELD:
I understand.

609

MR. ROGERS:
I just want the Board to know why I'm asking these questions. It was news to me, anyway, today. That's fair enough, isn't it?

610

MR. CAMFIELD:
If you say it's fair.

611

MR. ROGERS:
And then you go on to say in your remarks, back from O'Hare airport here, when you're explaining your process to people: "Capital, however defined, will likely play only a limited role in the C&C mechanism." Do you see that?

612

MR. CAMFIELD:
I do.

613

MR. ROGERS:
Now, have you changed your mind about that now or will it continue to ‑‑

614

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, I have not changed my mind. I mean, that was my perspective and vision all along. Namely, I am inclined to think that the emphasis of the Board Staff investigation, as far as reviewing all of the many EDR filings by the LDCs, Mr. Rogers, that the emphasis will be focused predominantly on current, within the year, operating expenses, rather than the accumulated capital balances. That's my inference. Notice I use the word "likely." I can't say, but I'm inclined to think that the emphasis of the interest in the C&C report by Staff in their investigations of the applications will be, the emphasis ‑‑ just as my regulatory experience leads me this to think that it will be on expenses, operating expenses of various categories rather than capital, per se.

615

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Is there anything more you can tell us this morning, sir, about your proposed methodology to deal with benchmarking of capital in the C&C methodology?

616

MR. CAMFIELD:
Development of the capital? The net capital stock?

617

MR. ROGERS:
Yes, is there anything more you can tell us about this, what you've proposed, other than what you have said? Because I want to ask Dr. Lowry to comment on that.

618

MR. CAMFIELD:
Sure, these are concerns that ‑‑ I would like to discuss this in a side conversation with him, if we could find a vehicle for that but ‑‑

619

MR. ROGERS:
You can, we'll arrange that, but ‑‑

620

MR. CAMFIELD:
Dr. Lowry and I were colleagues at one point, you know.

621

MR. ROGERS:
I know.

622

MR. CAMFIELD:
The way that I am proposing to proceed with this, now that it's become ‑‑ come to my attention of a data set of the investment and capital accounting records reaching way back for all of the LDCs in Ontario, it's my hope that we can draw upon this. Now, this will obviously involve Board Staff, it could be that this won't work, but if we can, we will certainly go down this road.

623

Now, if we can't go down this road, then the next best thing that I can do, in my vision, is to use measures of output over historical periods to ‑‑ through what I refer to as a heuristic or ad hoc mechanism to infer what the capital investment series might have been. And I've got a routine, should I say, an algorithm that allows me to develop that. I've used this in the past because I've run into these problems before in a different context. But it goes without saying that having the observed capital investment series reaching way back is better than trying to infer what that might have been.

624

The inferences that one might make, should I say, the mechanics of the heuristic approach, Mr. Rogers, thus inherently has estimation error. The estimation error needs to be tested, I have ideas about how to test that. The ‑‑ and it will require some key inputs to make that mechanism work.

625

I apologize for that long‑winded answer.

626

MR. ROGERS:
It's not your fault. All right. Thank you. Now, you told us ‑‑ I'm changing topics now slightly. I'm still talking about C&C, but not capital.

627

You mentioned earlier today just ‑‑ with your work with the committee, some of whom are here, I know, that you took your advice about, I think, comparators. Did I get that right?

628

MR. CAMFIELD:
They referred to it as comparators. I've, in various forms, referred to it as comparative diagnostic, partial measures of cost. I think that's what we're referring to.

629

MR. ROGERS:
So as I understood what you told us, you were new to Ontario, you hadn't worked here before, had you?

630

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't think so.

631

MR. ROGERS:
So you had to rely on them to help you with the history and the geography and what's Northern Ontario, and what's Southern Ontario, and what's big, and what's small and so on.

632

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

633

MR. ROGERS:
And you told us this morning that they gave you input on what you term comparators.

634

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

635

MR. ROGERS:
That you accepted as being ‑‑ I think you said those were intuitively the ones that you would have used.

636

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, for partial measures of cost, and we don't want to exclude other measures that will come out of the C&C process. And by that I mean the step 2 regression analysis, econometric analyses will produce general cost estimates for cost categories.

637

Now, the compares, the diagnostics seemed to be intuitively of interest, and so there was a good alignment of my thinking, as far as that was concerned, with the C&C working group.

638

MR. ROGERS:
Did the committee members have access to the data that you've used in your analysis in making these recommendations for comparators?

639

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would guess that they did not.

640

MR. ROGERS:
So their recommendations were based upon their, kind of, intuition rather than analysis of the costs that you rely on.

641

MR. CAMFIELD:
Intuition or, should we say, experienced history, knowledge of the business, working in the business, yes.

642

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Now, in the spirit that you and I agreed to proceed with our discussion this morning, namely that we're engaged in this process together to try and come up with the best recommendation that we can for the Board. I'd like to ask you about Dr. Lowry's recommendations. All right?

643

Now, we've already agreed, I think, that your methodology is evolving as you work on the problem. A basic outline is there, but the details are being filled in as we go along here.

644

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, what I referred to as C&C mechanism specification.

645

MR. ROGERS:
Right. And Mr. Warren took you to page 43 of Dr. Lowry's report for this discussion, and Dr. Lowry categorized it in his report as "mid‑course corrections." You took issue with that slightly, and preferred to call it, what, technical specifications, right, design specifications?

646

MR. CAMFIELD:
I certainly characterized Dr. Lowry's points as largely design specifications.

647

MR. ROGERS:
I'm not sure it matters very much, it's just whether it's design specification or a correction.

648

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's appropriate for us to be careful about the language and be as specific as we can. I'm just trying to be responsive.

649

MR. ROGERS:
All right. But let's look at whatever they are, whatever he recommends here on page 43. I want to be sure I understand where you're in agreement and where there's disagreement. There are bullet points on page 43, at the top, and Mr. Warren went through these with you. There are six bullet points. The first is this exclusion of capital cost as a cost‑performance variable. We've discussed that. You disagree with him.

650

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

651

MR. ROGERS:
The next is the consolidated treatment of customer care expenses. You agree with him.

652

MR. CAMFIELD:
For the 2006, if we cannot break it out, yes.

653

MR. ROGERS:
All right. Fine. And the use of restricted cost functions to guide OpEx model design, you agree.

654

MR. CAMFIELD:
We're doing it.

655

MR. ROGERS:
Right. I'm not trying to say it was his idea, but we can expect that this will be incorporated in your work.

656

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

657

MR. ROGERS:
The reporting of key clustering analysis statistics ‑‑

658

MR. CAMFIELD:
Can we go back to this one on restricted cost estimation?

659

MR. ROGERS:
I'd rather not but we will if you want. Of course you can.

660

MR. CAMFIELD:
I just wanted to say that within the realm of how we're proceeding here, I guess we plan to use the restricted cost equations or function approach. But it's important to recognize that there's another cost analysis approach that could possibly be utilized here, it's a different approach but I'm inclined to think Dr. Lowry would concur with it. Let's go on.

661

MR. ROGERS:
I'm not trying to drive you away from these suggestions, I want to you accept them. We want you to do these things.

662

MR. CAMFIELD:
I know. I can see that.

663

MR. ROGERS:
Next is the reconsideration of the comparators. I think that you said that that's step 4 of your process and you agree with it.

664

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that they are a bit fluid, yes.

665

MR. ROGERS:
They are fluid. Put another way, they're ill‑defined at the moment?

666

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, it's possible that in the specification I will define or suggest for the Board's considerations a set of comparators that would be exactly as we have them defined in the January 6th presentation, Mr. Rogers, but there would be possibly some addition, change or completion of that set.

667

MR. ROGERS:
So they're still under consideration. Whether reconsideration or not, this is something you're considering.

668

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

669

MR. ROGERS:
So you'd agree with him that this is something that should be considered, that's really where we are.

670

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

671

MR. ROGERS:
And the last is the development of statistical tests of efficiency hypotheses to more formally integrate considerations of uncertainty, and with that you agree.

672

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's something we'll do in the design specification, yes.

673

MR. ROGERS:
Good. Then his comments then were for you and the Board, and he says they should consider this, but he's recommending that the following acknowledgments be taken into account or made. And I think you've agreed with these, that: "Econometric models used in statistical clustering analysis should be specified using a clear set of rules."

674

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

675

MR. ROGERS:
And that the next one: "Some comparators considered will not be stand‑alone measures of operating efficiency." With that you agree?

676

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

677

MR. ROGERS:
Next: "Benchmarking results contain a high degree of uncertainty." I think you've said that you can't say for sure yet.

678

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I think it's an empirical issue.

679

MR. ROGERS:
But he may well be right about that too, depending on how things turn out.

680

MR. CAMFIELD:
Might.

681

MR. ROGERS:
We'll have to come back for the next edition to see, I guess.

682

And finally his suggestion is that, I think you probably want me get you to acknowledge, that: "Inaccurate benchmarking methods can lead to assessments that are unfair to LDCs." I think you've already agreed with that.

683

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have, yes.

684

MR. ROGERS:
So really, there isn't very much disagreement between you two as you are proceeding here, it would appear.

685

MR. CAMFIELD:
If that's your interpretation, yes. That's certainly a reasonable interpretation.

686

MR. ROGERS:
I'm going to ask him the same question, but is there any other criticism you'd like to make of what he has said, other than what you've covered so far, that you think is unfair or inappropriate?

687

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I wouldn't say it's unfair or inappropriate. There's some technical details that Dr. Lowry discusses in his report that I would take exception to, but it would take some time for me to go through that. It not clear to me that it's worthwhile to put on the record.

688

MR. ROGERS:
I think you're probably right. This has to do with some of the equations that ‑‑ and the technical side of this?

689

MR. CAMFIELD:
There's two or three things, yes.

690

MR. ROGERS:
Excuse me a moment.

691

Mr. Chairman, those are my questions. Thank you very much.

692

Thank you, Mr. Camfield.

693

MR. CAMFIELD:
Thank you.

694

MR. KAISER:
We'll take the lunch break now, Ms. Lea, if that's satisfactory. 1:30.

695

MS. LEA:
1:30, thank you, sir.

696

‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

697

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:39 p.m.

698

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

699

Who is up to bat? Mr. Shepherd, is that you.

700

MR. SHEPHERD:
I'm ready to go.

701

MS. LEA:
Sir, I do have one administrative matter that I would prefer to put on the matter at this time.

702

Thank you, sir. I just wanted to confirm the schedule for the hearing has maintained question marks on January 31st, Monday, January 31st for some time now. I'd like to confirm on the record that will be a no‑hearing day, we will not be sitting on January 31st.

703

I'm not aware of any other scheduling changes that I can commit to at this time, but I will keep you updated as we go.

704

MR. SHEPHERD:
Mr. Chairman, Mr. Rodger asked to precede me, and I'm happy with that.

705

MR. KAISER:
Fine. Do we have any idea how long we will be with this witness? Mr. Rodger?

706

MR. RODGER:
I will be fairly short now, probably 10, 15 minutes maximum.

707

MR. KAISER:
What about you, Mr. Shepherd?

708

MR. SHEPHERD:
Mr. Chairman, I will be about 20 minutes.

709

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White.

710

MR. WHITE:
20 minutes.

711

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Adams.

712

MR. ADAMS:
I could be 45 minutes.

713

MR. KAISER:
45 minutes.

714

MS. KWIK:
Mr. Stephenson is not here but, I do believe he has questions. Possibly 10, 15 minutes.

715

MR. KAISER:
So with any luck we might be able to finish with this witness today. Let's try and do that. Please proceed.

716

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

717

MR. RODGER:
Mr. Camfield, I'm Mark Rodger and I'm counsel for Toronto Hydro.

718

MR. CAMFIELD:
Good afternoon.

719

MR. RODGER:
As I just mentioned to the chairman, my questions will be a lot fewer in number, given the exchanges you've had with both my friends prior to the lunch. But I wanted to return briefly to what I'll call the application of the comparators and cohorts mechanism, just to clarify some of the answers you gave earlier this morning.

720

I think you were quite clear, sir, that your intention is that this mechanism be used as a screen or what I might call an administrative tool for Board Staff. There's some 95, or perhaps a bit less, more mergers that will happen in the next few months, a daunting task for the Board, Board Staff, and this is a way that they will be able to deal with that workload. Is that a fair characterization?

721

MR. CAMFIELD:
I certainly concur with screening, and certainly the objective is the expedience with which the processing of the EDR filings are concerned. It's not clear that it would be appropriate to describe it as administrative. I would say screening cost assessment for the purposes of expedient processing of rate applications.

722

MR. RODGER:
I frame this theme as application of the C&C mechanism because my conclusion is that the output of this, the practical output, is Board Staff will either ask certain interrogatories of certain LDCs or they won't because of this mechanism. That's why I have characterized it as a tool.

723

MR. CAMFIELD:
That would be the administrative tool aspect.

724

MR. RODGER:
Yes.

725

MR. CAMFIELD:
I concur.

726

MR. RODGER:
Now, one comment that I'd ask you to clarify, and I believe it was an exchange with Mr. Rogers, my grandfather, and that was that this mechanism would highlight the outliers, if I can call them that, but you said just as importantly, it could highlight positive attributes of certain LDCs. And I guess my question is: To what purpose would you want to highlight positive LDCs in light of the purpose of the tool to start with, and that is it's more of an administrative screening filter mechanism? To what end are we highlighting positive or lower‑cost utilities?

727

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, it would seem to me, and I haven't discussed this with Board Staff, but it would seem to me that the Board and the Staff would be interested in understanding, to the degree and reliability that we can do so, understand and estimate cost, and to the degree that that process highlights favorable cost experience, it's a regulatory agency, I would think that there would be interest in having that revealed.

728

MR. RODGER:
I think that answer is helpful because Mr. Warren posed a question to you to the effect that consumers large or stakeholders large across the province, what could they take from this mechanism. And I want to be a little narrower, and that is what is your view of what the Ontario Energy Board, as opposed to Board Staff, should take from this mechanism?

729

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, certainly the Board will have full access to everything, and certainly the Board can utilize and apply that information as it would like to do.

730

MR. RODGER:
But if we're not saying that the output of your mechanism is to have any implication on efficiency or not, reasonableness of cost or not, then what is the Board to take away, other than we talked about the outset and that's simply a way to help Board Staff filter through these 95 rate applications?

731

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's my experience that regulatory agencies, the Ontario Energy Board in particular, here in this setting, would have interest in just understanding and having revealed for their information, general information, the relative efficiency and comparison of LDCs that they regulate in the most general way.

732

Now, whether or not they would be able to act on that, I'm inclined to think that in view of this narrow and limited role that we are setting forth, at least as I envision it, it would set forth for the C&C mechanism, that there would be no action that they would be taking on that information.

733

MR. RODGER:
So putting that another way, would it be fair to say that your view would be that there is certainly no evidentiary relevance, if I can call it that, of your screening mechanism with the Energy Board's ultimate determination of what constitutes just and reasonable rates.

734

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that's generally correct, at least that's my thinking. It's certainly not for me to judge as to what the ‑‑ they would make of that information or how they would use it. I can't fully answer that question, but at least it's my expectation that it would be of general information and would be of interest to the Ontario Energy Board.

735

MR. RODGER:
But it's certainly not your understanding or expectation that when these 95 rate applications come before them, and the Board is assessing the pros and cons, they wouldn't look at your mechanisms and say, Geez, this is an outlier or maybe we shouldn't approve or maybe we should qualify that. Because that's not the purpose of this mechanism in your view; is that correct?

736

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

737

MR. RODGER:
Now, I just wanted to ask a couple of follow‑up questions about the scope of your retainer. As we've just gone through, your purpose, as you've described it, is to have this screening mechanism, but was that always the scope of the retainer or has the retainer changed since you were first retained?

738

MR. CAMFIELD:
It has not changed.

739

MR. RODGER:
So at no time were you asked to look at legitimacy of LDC costs as part of this review. Or to otherwise draw conclusions on ‑‑

740

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is correct. My retainer is to focus on cost assessment and not on judging or gauging ‑‑ attaching any, in your choice of words, legitimacy to costs.

741

MR. RODGER:
The costs are legitimate or the utility is efficient or inefficient, that's completely beyond the scope of your retainer.

742

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

743

MR. RODGER:
In your report, you went through with Ms. Lea your four broad categories of costs, and you referred to these at various times as unbundled services, wires and interconnection service, billing and collection or settlements, and customer service and administration. Could you tell me, sir, do your four components of distribution services, do they all align with the uniform system of accounts and the filing requirements for 2006 applications?

744

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. There is a detailed allocation issue that I alluded to, if I didn't completely answer it earlier, before noon, and this dealt with certain uniform system of account categories ‑‑ cost categories that may need to be allocated to the unbundled services, as I have suggested they be defined.

745

MR. RODGER:
I take it ‑‑ is it your view that that's very important? That your categories correspond with the U.S. of A and the rate applications, so we're getting consistent data?

746

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I think that's important. And I think it is enabling, in that regard.

747

MR. RODGER:
Now, in your report ‑ the reference is page 7, but I don't think you have to turn to it ‑ you talk about market context and distribution costs. And you've identified, in your report, several factors that contribute to costs and cost differences amongst utilities, examples of which are size and type of service area, facility configuration, load growth, extension of territory, and so on ‑‑ municipal requirements. You've also put forward this exhibit, 6.3.

748

And part of your observations on the changes were that, you know, the reporting requirements, presumably, have to capture these, kind of, Z‑factor or external factors that would drive these changes. And can you tell me how those factors that you've identified ‑‑ how are they captured in this data requirement that's in Exhibit 6.3 so that you capture all these reasons for costs ‑‑ different cost drivers amongst utilities?

749

MR. CAMFIELD:
Let's go through them.

750

MR. RODGER:
Okay.

751

MR. CAMFIELD:
So, first of all, we have cost drivers that I refer to as the level‑of‑services, unit‑of‑output cost drivers. And those data can be seen on page 3 and page 4.

752

Going, actually, if I may, to the top of page 6, moving back one page ‑ and I apologize for not seeing this earlier ‑ here we refer to links, load sinks, from the perspective of the network. These do have impact, of course, on costs, wires and interconnection services. And the data that would allow us to measure or observe these elements are listed on page 5. But there are several different transformers ‑‑ there's some detailed descriptions here, but these transformers dig into those links to the mesh to network ‑‑ transmission network.

753

I mention, right below that, distribution facilities, in terms of underground and overhead, sometimes referred to as "aerial services." And ‑‑ did I overlook this? It seems to me that the descriptors that might be referred to as "underground" and "overhead" are not included in my list, and that's an oversight on my part. That data, I should mention, is part of the PBR filing, and is readily available. It's a very important and necessary measure, but it appears to be readily available and reported. We will make a change accordingly.

754

Excuse me, I have made ‑‑ have I made a mistake here? Excuse me, it is listed, it's listed on page 5 in the middle. It is here. I apologize to the Board for my mistake in not observing this, but I do have the underground facilities provided for.

755

MR. RODGER:
And to, kind of, illustrate ‑‑

756

MR. CAMFIELD:
We can go on, but this is going to take some time, sir.

757

MR. RODGER:
Well, let me characterize this specific example. If you look at billings and collections, for example, on page 2.

758

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

759

MR. RODGER:
How does this capture ‑‑ or how do you think the LDCs would interpret this so that utilities, if they were reporting costs for the same function differently, that, somehow, would now be standardized with this exhibit? For example, billing and collection, a utility may have contracted this service out and reported it under the administration category. So how can you make sure that the utilities are all using the right buckets for putting the data in? And wasn't that one of the big issues that came out from the working groups ‑‑

760

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, it did.

761

MR. RODGER:
‑‑ and I want to get that linkage between that concern and ‑‑

762

MR. CAMFIELD:
You're asking an important question ‑‑

763

MR. RODGER:
Going forward ‑‑

764

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, you're asking an important question. It is necessary that costs that might be recorded in the ‑ and your example is a good one ‑ in the category that we refer to as "administrative expenses," those costs, if they are direct costs for the billing and collections unbundled service, then, naturally, it would have to be recorded there. And so we're, sort of ‑‑ if it's not explicitly stated here, and I think we are ‑‑ if I can ‑‑ may just turn your question to billings and collections, it says, in the comment, "includes customer meters, vehicles, communication equipment, software," and so forth "associated with the billings and collections." Now, it could be that there are some purchased‑outside services that could be recorded in the administrative accounts area, that should be included in the expenses for billings and collections.

765

MR. RODGER:
So is ‑‑ would part of your approach be that an exhibit like 6.3 ‑‑ there would be another iteration of this, where, basically, you would have definitions for each of these items, so that all the utilities receiving this ‑‑ there is a single understanding of what these mean and, thus, an expectation that there would be a consistent filing, according to those definitions?

766

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's the direction that we must go in, is to use this vehicle, or something akin to it, as a basis to align the filing with the unbundled services, as we've defined them, or, at least, as we can agree.

767

MR. RODGER:
And is it your view that the revised version of Exhibit 6.3 will be completed and ‑‑ before the utilities ‑‑ for the filing that's due this July 1st?

768

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, absolutely. We've discussed this with Board Staff ‑‑ I've discussed this with Board Staff, about having a round of finalization of this reporting template for the C&C mechanism. And, as you have pointed out here, in your cross, there may be some reason to change or augment the current Exhibit 6.3.

769

MR. RODGER:
And, presumably, this would await the decision of this Board, and, assuming the Board adopted this mechanism, then there would be this final filing information paper coming out from Board Staff; is that the expectation?

770

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

771

MS. LEA:
Sorry, Mr. Rodger, are you looking at me or the witness? We, kind of, both have a role here.

772

MR. RODGER:
The witness.

773

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

774

MR. RODGER:
Just one final question, sir. You talked in your evidence in‑chief about the importance of the formation of peer groups, and that other than the Hydro One remotes and First Nation power authorities, the other utilities, you didn't see any particularly unique circumstances. I wonder if you could advise us, who is Toronto Hydro's cohort?

775

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, certainly it's obvious to all of us that, as a matter of size, Toronto Hydro has a unique attribute. Let's imagine that we proceed with the analyses of step 2, the econometric analyses, complete that and define costs as a unit cost, which is not a total cost area. Then it's quite possible that Toronto Hydro could fall in on any number of cohorts.

776

An alternative way of proceeding with this, and it's a mechanism that I'm seriously considering, that quite frankly is to standardize the right‑hand side data, if you please, used in the econometric analyses, and then do the cluster analysis ‑ I know that I'm getting technical here, and I apologize for any confusion that I may impose on all of you ‑ conduct a cluster analysis on the standardized variables or normalized variables.

777

If I don't do either of those two ‑‑ if I don't, should I say, proceed in either of these two ways, then it's quite possible that Toronto Hydro could come out and be unique.

778

MR. RODGER:
So, just so I understand that, you're saying if you could do a unit‑cost breakdown, then it's possible to do an apples‑to‑apples comparison, and Toronto Hydro could be part of that; is that correct?

779

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think so, but an apples‑to‑apples, unit‑cost basis of comparison raises other analytical issues.

780

MR. RODGER:
And am I also right that your statistical analysis for the report that's before the Board today, that deals with total costs as opposed to unit costs; is that correct?

781

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, sir, that's correct.

782

MR. RODGER:
And in terms of the concept of the cohort, what's your view of the minimal number of utilities in that cohort to be useful?

783

MR. CAMFIELD:
That answer is a specification answer, it's a parameter answer insofar as the result of a number of member LDCs comprising any one cohort is a result of how many cohorts we select to include in the analyses.

784

So let's imagine, if we go down a road of a unit‑cost model or a standardized‑variable model, and we say, Let's have four cohorts, not ten, then that naturally suggests that the average would be quite a bit greater for each cohort.

785

Just the same, even though there would be just maybe fewer cohorts rather than more, you still can find just ‑‑ the empirical outcome can be to have a cohort that has only a few peers. Generally speaking, I would like to have fewer cohorts, larger peer groups, and I would like to have upwards of at least seven to ten LDCs in each.

786

MR. RODGER:
In each cohort.

787

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yeah. But there's no quantitative basis, I have no objective, quantitative basis at this point to say how many cohort groups we ought to have. This is a specification issue, and as you can see, it's a critical issue. The two or three technical issues that I think we face certainly includes this issue of specifying the cluster analysis that gives rise to the number of cohorts and thus, depending upon how the data is used, the number of LDCs within the cohorts.

788

MR. RODGER:
Thank you very much, sir.

789

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

790

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

791

Mr. Shepherd.

792

MR. SHEPHERD:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

793

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

794

MR. SHEPHERD:
I have just four areas, Mr. Camfield. Let's start with the first two technical areas. Dr. Lowry has suggested that you should focus on O&M expenses and OpEx and exclude CapEx from this discussion; right?

795

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

796

MR. SHEPHERD:
It's true that in some areas there is a certain amount of interchangeability between the two. The utilities make decisions about whether to accomplish functions through capital spending or through operating spending; right?

797

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

798

MR. SHEPHERD:
And in those areas, it's hard to have comparisons unless you combine the effects of the two to get the overall cost of the functions; is that right?

799

MR. CAMFIELD:
If the objective is to benchmark in a single measure some unbundled service, that's correct. You would want to incorporate all costs or resource cost elements employed in that unbundled service, which would require the integration or putting together of both the capital and the non‑capital resource inputs.

800

MR. SHEPHERD:
So, for example, information technology services is one in which it's common ‑‑ there are common decisions that can be made that will push it more to the capital or more to the operating costs; right?

801

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I would imagine that ‑‑ well, efficiency would say that the LDCs should employ capital up to the point of its marginal value or marginal product so that the optimal rate of substitution between capital and labour would follow the marginal product of those resources.

802

We have to recognize that capital is somewhat indivisible, lumpy, certainly more so than labour resources. So when we, in your example, Mr. Shepherd, focus on, for example, IT, you've got the IT resources, those would be, sort of, I think, to a large degree, if it's bigger systems, kind of indivisible. Thus, there may be some optimality, particularly in the short run.

803

The second reason is that an LDC, or any company, can commit capital, because capital is a durable good and provides services over extended future time frames. You, as a manager of a firm, or the management of a firm, would commit capital resources on the basis of the expectations of what those future resources would be. That's kind of a forecast. So they can make some mistakes in the commitment of resources based upon expectations of the future, the state of the world. And so you find short‑run variations from optimality, because of the inherent mistake that is inherent to all decisions ‑ all decisions. You can't know the future exactly.

804

MR. SHEPHERD:
If, for example, you commit to a major outsourcing contract, a ten‑year outsourcing contract to produce a particular function as opposed to going and buying the software and hiring the staff, from the ratepayers' point of view, it's the same, but it reports differently in the numbers you're collecting; right?

805

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

806

MR. SHEPHERD:
And now you've proposed some methods of ensuring that you could integrate those two, correct, for those problems; is that right?

807

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

808

MR. SHEPHERD:
Now, we heard some discussion earlier today about the possibility that you were partly agreeing with Dr. Lowry, hat the capital side of the equation would have a more limited role. Is that ‑‑ did I hear that right?

809

MR. CAMFIELD:
Limited in the sense that I am anticipating that Board Staff would focus more intensively on operating expenses in their review, and would have more need ‑‑ or have more interest in the operating expenses cost‑assessment elements of the C&C mechanism than the capital elements.

810

MR. SHEPHERD:
But they still have to correct for the capital versus operating decisions that the utilities make, right, in order to have proper comparability?

811

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

812

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. Let's turn to a second area that has a lot of similarity in that you've talked about asking for the utilities to report FTEs; right?

813

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

814

MR. SHEPHERD:
And you say ‑‑ in Exhibit D.6.3, you say ‑‑ on the first page, in that box at the top, you say it's possible that some virtual LDCs may not utilize direct labour resources. Do you see that?

815

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

816

MR. SHEPHERD:
So what do you do in that case, if you want to compare human resources efficiency between firms?

817

MR. CAMFIELD:
It would suggest that, if we were to look at labour costs, and had an LDC that's a virtual utility and had no labour cost, that, in terms of FTEs, it's very efficient.

818

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, but that's an incorrect answer, isn't it?

819

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, it's an anomaly of the ‑‑ as you pointed out, I think, appropriately, it's an anomaly that is inherent to the diagnostics ‑‑ the comparative diagnostics, as I have defined them.

820

MR. SHEPHERD:
Are there ‑‑

821

MR. CAMFIELD:
I appreciate your comment.

822

MR. SHEPHERD:
Are there accepted ways of incorporating those external FTEs into the utilities' numbers so that you can get a sense of who is actually using the resources more efficiently?

823

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, if we ‑‑ let's imagine a situation where, as you suggest, we have an LDC that has no full‑time employees. We would expect that they are using implicit labour resources because they are purchasing outside or shared services in some way.

824

Now, to the degree that the C&C mechanism, as I have developed it, involves the determination of ‑‑ or, should I say, estimation of cost‑for‑cost categories, including O&M and including capital for the unbundled services, we would expect to observe the outside services within the operating expense category of the unbundled service in question.

825

So, while we may not have direct labour costs, we would certainly expect to see some costs within the OpEx and I'm inclined to think that the OpEx, as well as capital, is the appropriate way to assess the various unbundled services. These are distinct from the partial measures of the comparative diagnostics.

826

Am I answering your question?

827

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, let me just pursue it, just one step further. Are there standard ways of taking those dollars you pay to out‑source services, then, to an affiliate sometimes or to a third party for people services, and converting them into, in effect, virtual FTEs ‑‑

828

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh ‑‑

829

MR. SHEPHERD:
‑‑ so that you can compare?

830

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, in other words ‑‑ so what you're suggesting is, let's imagine we have some out‑sourced services purchased, and we take, for example ‑‑ if I understand you correctly, Mr. Shepherd, convert that dollar amount to FTEs, given some compensation of an FTE, something like that.

831

MR. SHEPHERD:
I'm asking whether there are methodologies for doing that.

832

MR. CAMFIELD:
There certainly are.

833

MR. SHEPHERD:
So, in an simple example, let's say Enersource ‑ and Enersource is one, I think, that has a small number of employees ‑ let's say they had 50 employees, and they transferred them all to their parent company, but they're all still doing the same thing ‑‑

834

MR. CAMFIELD:
Sure.

835

MR. SHEPHERD:
‑‑ for the utility. They just are in a different company. There are ways of taking the fees that are paid by the utility to the parent company and turning that into FTEs. So you compare their use of human resources; right?

836

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct. Let's call it an FTEs equivalent.

837

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. And so, you're not proposing to use any of those in this year's round of comparators.

838

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have not thought about it, but at this point I would have to say that I was not planning to do that.

839

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. So let me turn to the general areas. You talked with Mr. Warren about how you measure success of this, and you talked with Mr. Rodger about the purpose of this mechanism. And, in both cases, your emphasis was, sort of, a practical one. You wanted this to help Staff to screen applications; right?

840

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

841

MR. SHEPHERD:
I presume that also means help intervenors screen applications?

842

MR. CAMFIELD:
If they had available the information, yes.

843

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, you ‑‑ now, you've suggested that the Board Members would have all this information available to them; right?

844

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm anticipating that they will, yes.

845

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, then, it stands to reason that the intervenors would have to have the information, too; right?

846

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't know what the rules of engagement are, as far as intervening parties are concerned. But I understand your point, and if the rules of engagement are that the intervening parties would have equivalent information, then the answer is yes.

847

MR. SHEPHERD:
I didn't mean to ask a legal question. I got ahead of myself. I guess that's, sort of, a practical way of describing the measure of success and the purpose. But I heard you say that ‑‑ earlier, that what this really does is it gives you symptoms to help you diagnose any problems within applications. Isn't that right?

848

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have trouble with the word ‑‑ interpreting the word "problems." I like the analogy of symptoms and diagnosis, yes.

849

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, I guess what it does is it, sort of, raises a prima facie issue. You look at an application, and it's way out of line in its ‑‑ I don't know, FTEs, for example. And so it makes you ask the question, Why is that? It doesn't tell you anything in particular, except that you should ask that question; right?

850

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

851

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that's something that Board Staff could do in screening. It's something the Board could do in considering the issues. It's something that intervenors could do; right?

852

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

853

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. It's true ‑‑ and that's quite a legitimate use of this. Even though you have data integrity issues, as long as you're not making the decision based on that, as long as it's only pointing you in the direction of asking more questions, that's fine; right?

854

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

855

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. Another thing you can do with this sort of information is you can identify generic issues, issues that appear to cross a number of utilities. For example, if you find that all of the ‑‑ just hypothetically, you find that all of the privately‑owned LDCs tend to have much higher personnel costs, let's say, then that legitimately tells the Board, Ask the question whether there's a connection between the two. Isn't that right?

856

MR. CAMFIELD:
It would suggest a relationship, and they may choose to pursue that.

857

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that's a good way to use it, to identify things like that, that may have a common cause.

858

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would agree with that, yes.

859

MR. SHEPHERD:
Now, you talked with Mr. Rodger about, Why would you identify utilities that are on the good side of the variance, that are very low‑cost in a particular area? It's true, isn't it, that one of the things you can use this for is to try to identify best practices. For example, you see a utility that ‑‑ their costs in a particular area are a lot lower than others, and it makes you ask the question, Why are their costs lower? And if they're doing something neat, then the Board can say to the other utilities, You should look at this. Right?

860

MR. CAMFIELD:
I agree with that. It would precipitate ‑‑ the observation of differences, as you suggest, would precipitate a look‑see as regards to best practices that might be leading to these improved cost‑performance results.

861

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. So the last area I want to talk about, and the most important, I think, you've raised the question of data integrity, and I think everybody agrees that the data that is currently available has some issues about its comparability; is that right?

862

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

863

MR. SHEPHERD:
And the lower your level of granularity, the more detailed the information is, the more likely it is that you're going to have a problem with the integrity of the data; right?

864

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's not clear that that would logically follow. There can be data issues that, as we have pursued earlier today, that relate to aggregation. So it isn't necessarily, I think, granularity in and of itself that leads to issues of data quality.

865

MR. SHEPHERD:
Well, it's true ‑‑

866

MR. CAMFIELD:
Am I missing your point?

867

MR. SHEPHERD:
No, no, but let me just pursue this for a second. It's true, isn't it, that the reason why data might not be reliable for comparison purposes is because different people describe and report things differently, different LDCs take different approaches to reporting things; right?

868

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think that's correct. It's not clear that that's granularity or granularity induced.

869

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. But it is true that it's the disaggregation of the data that causes the data integrity problem, I think you said that earlier; right?

870

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, I believe I'm suggesting that data integrity issues can be associated with aggregation of data, because there the problem is related to the unbundling of aggregated totals, the agglomeration of total magnitudes of costs, for example, into separate unbundled services does raise an issue there.

871

MR. SHEPHERD:
And in fact, one of the things you're doing in 6.3 is you're trying to make some areas of the data more granular, more disaggregated, so that it's more usable.

872

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

873

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. Now, you could go to the other extreme; right? We haven't heard the term price yet in this comparison analysis. You could go ‑‑ the other extreme is you could compare the prices that different utilities charge; right?

874

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

875

MR. SHEPHERD:
And in fact, at the price level there isn't a data integrity issue, is there? The price is the price.

876

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

877

MR. SHEPHERD:
And if I understand what you're doing, I'm not criticizing you for not considering price, there's two ways of approaching the comparison process. One is you can compare the component parts of a utility's activities and sort of build up what an efficient utility might look like, or you can go from the top and you can compare their prices and say, Well, these expensive ones, let's drill down and find out why. Isn't that true?

878

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

879

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that top‑down approach you could ‑‑ I mean, they're both legitimate approaches; right?

880

MR. CAMFIELD:
Based upon the information that we have, as you presented it, I think both are legitimate, yes.

881

MR. SHEPHERD:
And you can use the two in conducting with each other, isn't that also true? For example, if you wanted to use the top‑down approach, you could look at price differentials, if you are the Board Staff or the Board, and from that when you see somebody with a high price look for why their cost anomalies are through your study, and through that look at what the cost drivers are creating those cost anomalies. Couldn't you do that?

882

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

883

MR. SHEPHERD:
And that would be a perfectly legitimate approach to identifying what the problem is and how to deal with it; isn't that true?

884

MR. CAMFIELD:
Before I answer your question, let me just work back through what this scenario contains.

885

There would be, if I understand you correctly, a screen of LDC price performance that would then give rise to some cost analysis that we might refer to as a bottom‑up approach, something akin to the C&C mechanism.

886

MR. SHEPHERD:
That's true, or you could have your study, as you propose it, which would have different utilities compared to each other on the basis of different components; right? And then if you're Board Staff or if you are an intervenor, you could say, Okay, who are the most expensive ones and who are charging their ratepayers the most? Let's go look at Bob Camfield's study and see if that tells us why they are more expensive.

887

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I think that's legitimate, yes.

888

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. And one of the things that happens there is there are no cohorts when you start with price; right? Price is price.

889

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, that's correct.

890

MR. SHEPHERD:
So for example, this is one place where you could compare Hydro One's rates to other utilities, couldn't you.

891

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, certainly. I should mention that you could develop and ‑‑ you could cluster and thus develop cohorts according to prices, and you could define relationships, you could certainly define relationships, unquestionably, between price and price‑cost drivers. I would imagine they would be related. I haven't done that analytically, but I would imagine there would be relationships.

892

MR. SHEPHERD:
One of the problems with comparing price is that utilities don't necessarily have high prices across the board. They might have only high prices in one class or in one type of service, things like that; right?

893

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

894

MR. SHEPHERD:
So if you compare price, one of the things you would have to correct for is cost allocation and rate design; true?

895

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm presuming in this case that we would want to compare LDCs according to overall prices. That it would be the energy weighted combination of the prices charged to end‑use consumers.

896

MR. SHEPHERD:
But for example, and as you know, I represent the Schools, right, so if the Schools are concerned with trying to figure out which utilities to look at in their 2006 applications, they can compare how much it would cost for a typical school in one place versus other place; right?

897

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, and to do that would be nothing more than to just compare the tariff rate schedules under which a school facility might fall, it would seem to me.

898

MR. SHEPHERD:
You can't just compare the tariffs themselves, you have to assume some usage, don't you?

899

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

900

MR. SHEPHERD:
But if you had a standard usage pattern, you could then do a comparison of one franchise area to another and determine where it's more expensive to have a typical school, couldn't you?

901

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

902

MR. SHEPHERD:
And now if you did that, then you'd have to determine whether the reason why it's more expensive in one place than another is how they design their rights; true?

903

MR. CAMFIELD:
How they design their rates, including cost allocation.

904

MR. SHEPHERD:
And the second is cost allocation, yes.

905

MR. CAMFIELD:
It could have, yes, influence on why the prices are what they are.

906

MR. SHEPHERD:
So, for example ‑ and the Schools are generally in a general service over‑50 kilowatt class ‑ you could, for example, identify that the utilities that have very low fixed charges tend to be more expensive places to have a school; right? I mean, you can identify that sort of thing by comparing ‑‑

907

MR. CAMFIELD:
You can identify that sort of thing. It does not logically follow, though, that fixed charges will give rise to the price differences per se. There could be ‑‑ I mean, it depends upon the tariff schedule itself.

908

MR. SHEPHERD:
Right, yes. But certainly one of the questions you have to ask is, is this because of rate design or cost allocation or is it because they're inefficient; right? Or is it because they're a rural utility and it's more expensive to deliver the power; right?

909

MR. CAMFIELD:
All of those things.

910

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. So it has the same sort of use as your technique does, which is to tell you what questions ‑‑ to tell you where you should be asking questions.

911

MR. CAMFIELD:
Potentially, yes.

912

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. The other thing about comparing price is that price is public information, isn't it?

913

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would imagine that, yes, it is public information. I'm sure that it is.

914

MR. SHEPHERD:
So you had a discussion earlier today with Mr. Rogers, I think, I can't remember, or maybe Mr. Rodger here, about whether the information comparing the utilities should be made public. Do you recall that?

915

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

916

MR. SHEPHERD:
And you said that, generally speaking, these sorts of information are public in the United States; right?

917

MR. CAMFIELD:
I did.

918

MR. SHEPHERD:
But, clearly, if there was a comparison of utilities based on price, that would be all public information; right?

919

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

920

MR. SHEPHERD:
And I guess I would ask you the question: Would you think it would be in the interests of the utilities, if there was a comparison based on price, for the component parts ‑‑ the parts that ‑‑ the information that you have in 6.3 ‑‑ in Exhibit 6.3 ‑‑ to also be made public, so that the members of the public could see the reasons why some people were outliers. Wouldn't that be correct?

921

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm inclined to think that the information value of highly‑detailed cost information, as defined in 6.3, would be of much less value about determining the differences under ‑‑ differences, and the reasons underlying differences, in prices, than, say, the tariff‑price elements, themselves.

922

MR. SHEPHERD:
Could you explain that a little bit, please?

923

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, let's just consider here. Let's imagine that we made some of these items here in 6.3, accumulated depreciation, levels of output, kilometer of conductor, weighted depreciation rates ‑‑ we made that sort of information public. It's not at all clear to me that the body politic ‑‑ excuse me, the public ‑‑ the consuming public would be able to use that information, and say much about how or why prices are differentiated among the LDCs.

924

MR. SHEPHERD:
Way too much detail, in other words?

925

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I mean it would take someone, I would imagine, that's familiar with this kind of data, and worked with this data. They might be able to take this sort of information and develop it into useful information that would enable the public to gauge why prices are differentiated and, should we say, at different levels. That might be possible.

926

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay. But your mechanism is designed to do exactly that; right? To identify ‑‑ to take this raw data, which, I agree, is more complicated than I would understand how to deal with it, and put it into a model that then corrects for different cost drivers, et cetera, and produces some comparisons between utilities that have more legitimacy and are easier to understand. Isn't that right?

927

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that's correct ‑‑

928

MR. SHEPHERD:
So ‑‑

929

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I think, well, it's possible. I think that's possible.

930

MR. SHEPHERD:
So, if you're Toronto Hydro ‑ I'll pick on Toronto Hydro because I always pick on Toronto Hydro ‑ if you're Toronto Hydro, and your rates for schools, let's say, are 60 percent higher than the provincial average, and you know that this is going to be public ‑ this is going to be known, that your rates are higher ‑ it's in your interests, if your study is ‑‑ at least, in their interests, if your study is also made public so that the reasons why there's that differential, the legitimate reasons, are public at the same time as the price comparison. Isn't that right?

931

MR. CAMFIELD:
To the degree that they could act on it, use that information, interpret it and act on it, it would be in their interest.

932

MR. SHEPHERD:
Okay.

933

MR. CAMFIELD:
It would be welfare‑improving, from their perspective.

934

MR. SHEPHERD:
Thank you.

935

I have no further questions.

936

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White?

937

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. WHITE:

938

MR. WHITE:
Thank you.

939

Can we go to your Exhibit 6.3, please.

940

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have it.

941

MR. WHITE:
And on page 4, there's a mention in the bottom category, the notion of urban. Are you aware that, under the current reporting system, there is a differentiation by all LDCs between urban and rural components of their service area?

942

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

943

MR. WHITE:
Okay. Are you aware that the usual definition for "rural" in such cases is that it's what the municipal by‑laws define as rural as opposed to some other, more technical, criteria?

944

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, I did not know that.

945

MR. WHITE:
Let me suggest to you that what right be rural in Sudbury and what might be rural in Oakville might be quite different, in terms of what's involved in reaching it.

946

If I can take you, on the other hand, to Hydro One, they have three residential classes: one called "urban," which is the highest density; a second category called "high density"; and a third category called "normal density." And those are based on number of customers per kilometer of line, so they are more directly related to the electrical facilities that have to be installed to supply those customers.

947

I'm wondering if that's what you meant when you said you would exclude Hydro One on the basis of some ‑‑ that it is fundamentally, institutionally, different, ignoring the First Nations and remote communities aspects. Maybe you can help me understand what you mean by "institutionally different."

948

MR. CAMFIELD:
Institutional differences, in my interpretation and meaning, refers to the history and legacy and from ‑‑ and within that history and legacy, the modus operandi of how the remote communities comprising Hydro One Networks operate, manage, make decisions about resources ‑‑ essentially, run the business ‑‑

949

MR. WHITE:
Yes, but there ‑‑

950

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ and I'm saying ‑‑ and I'm suggesting that ‑‑ and I understand that's a different framework ‑‑ different institutional‑background framework, and grounding, from the other LDCs that would be included in the C&C study mechanism.

951

MR. WHITE:
Okay. And I don't have any concern at all, like I said, about the remote communities or the First Nations, but what I'd like you to talk about is the other Hydro One, and why it, specifically, is excluded ‑‑ the one that supplies, I don't know, a million and a half customers.

952

MR. CAMFIELD:
Are we referring to Brampton?

953

MR. WHITE:
No.

954

MS. LEA:
Perhaps we can assist the witnesses. Mr. White, could you list the Hydro Ones you're talking about? There are a number of things called Hydro One, and it may assist the witness to do that.

955

MR. WHITE:
There's a Hydro One Networks Inc., which has a couple of divisions ‑‑ maybe, Mr. Rogers ‑‑ I'll invite him to correct me if I go down the wrong ‑‑

956

MR. ROGERS:
I was hoping to learn this myself.

957

MR. WHITE:
There's a transmission system that they operate, which is part of a separate rate‑hearing process before this Board. But there are, if you will, three other entities: There's the remote communities, there's the First Nations, and then there is the third category, which has broad supply responsibilities, province‑wide. It serves ‑‑ in fact, it used to be called, in ‑‑ when I was with them, in a former life, it used to be called the supplier of last resort. When nobody else would go there, Ontario Hydro, in those days, would go there and supply them.

958

MR. ROGERS:
That's what makes them so different.

959

MR. WHITE:
Okay. Now, so, in a lot of ways, they are somewhat like LDCs, because they serve urban areas and they have an urban rate for it, and they serve high‑density areas, which are small towns and small communities that meet their high‑density criteria, and they supply what some people call a lot of moose pasture where they have a lot of "rural" customers which have a lower density. And I think the number is somewhere in the order of 14 customers per kilometer of line, so less than that to fall into the rural category.

960

I'm wondering, just on the face of it, why that would be excluded? Because sure it's got some density issues, but density is something you're looking at when you're gathering information, and I'm wondering why it would be excluded when other utilities that have similar density criteria, and some of them have as high as 38 percent "normal" density, or the lowest of Hydro One's density criteria, why they would be included when Hydro One is excluded? And frankly I'm looking for some help so that I can explain it to my clients.

961

MR. CAMFIELD:
This comes to me as a complete surprise, and I would have to explore the institutional framework of the LDCs that you speak of, Mr. White, before I could answer your question. But it's certainly something that I wish to explore, and I'll try to do that.

962

MR. WHITE:
So you may, at some point, choose to reconsider your answer to Mr. Rogers earlier today where you gave him an unqualified he's out of the game.

963

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well ‑‑

964

MR. WHITE:
Or can my clients who are in a similar situation ask for the same status?

965

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would have to say that we'll certainly explore including them.

966

MR. WHITE:
And I'm not going to take the witness any further than that. I just think it's something that needs to be revisited.

967

MS. LEA:
I think the witness does need more information, Mr. White, before he can make that judgment.

968

MR. WHITE:
Absolutely.

969

MR. CAMFIELD:
We'll need a new 6.3 category, antlers per kilowatt hour or something.

970

MS. LEA:
I don't know, Mr. White. The only assistance that we found in our books was we do have a map of Ontario which shows the Hydro One Networks served area, but perhaps you want to leave the matter for now. I don't know.

971

MR. WHITE:
I don't think it's fair to the witness to take him there, but I certainly would appreciate some of the value of his considered input into the process.

972

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

973

MR. WHITE:
One of the things that you talk about on the top of page 4, and it seems to be getting a lot of my attention, is the output back to 1990. Many utilities were involved in expansions as opposed to acquisitions and mergers, and those expansions were under a predecessor statute where the transfer price was a determined net book value less equity.

974

MR. CAMFIELD:
By transfer price, an acquisition price?

975

MR. WHITE:
Let's call it an expansion price, because what they were doing was, under the statute, they were acquiring some customers from Hydro One as opposed to the utility in total.

976

For them, at that time, they got no information of the previous history of the customers, even though they may have some specific transformer manufacture dates which give them some specific information. But for them to produce the information that you're looking at, back to 1990, when there were ‑‑ the expansions took place, one of them in 1998 and some in 1999, those utilities will find it most difficult, if not impossible, to try and even reasonably guess at solid information going back as far as 1990.

977

I notice that that's not a must‑have category, and I heaved a small sigh of relief when I noticed that, when I went through the item, but my suggestion is that to try and produce that would be, at the very least, an onerous task and, in fact, Hydro One said that they were unwilling to provide historical data when the expansion took place. I'm just trying to provide background, I'm not trying to beat up anybody in the process.

978

MR. ROGERS:
Excuse me, Mr. Chair. I hesitate to interrupt because I neither represent the witness nor Mr. White, happily, but if he's going to quote my client, let's not quote other people, sir, if I may suggest it.

979

MR. KAISER:
I thought you wanted to learn, Mr. Rogers.

980

MR. ROGERS:
I do, but I'd like to have reliable information.

981

MR. KAISER:
Mr. White? In fairness, where are we going with all this? Is there a question here?

982

MR. WHITE:
What I'm trying to do is to understand whether these implications are going to have a material impact on the comparators and cohorts that the witness is going to develop and ‑‑

983

MR. KAISER:
Why don't you put that question to him.

984

MR. WHITE:
Okay. Fair enough.

985

Would that situation materially influence the ability to produce useful and effective comparators and cohorts?

986

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, if we're able to assemble the historical investment series from observed investment bookings, then it would have no impact. Not having this information accurately for some LDCs would have no impact. On the other hand, if we do not find ourselves able to develop, or should I say, gather and assemble the historical investment series, and thus we would want to rely upon these measures of output to infer investment, and we did not have these data for some LDCs then it would ‑‑ it means that we would not be able to develop on that capital stock for them. And if there are many of ‑‑ many of the LDCs in this situation, then it could have a material impact, yes.

987

MR. WHITE:
Okay. If ‑‑ there are two more categories of items in 6.3 that I'd like to take you to. And the one is on page 4, where you talk about single‑phase, two‑phase and three‑phase circuit miles.

988

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, sir.

989

MR. WHITE:
My question is: Are those overhead, underground or a combination of both, because it's unclear when I look at the words.

990

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I think that you have highlighted an oversight on my part in putting this together. That is to say, I mean to obtain single‑, two‑, and three‑phase services for overhead or aerial conductor, and similarly for underground conductor.

991

MR. WHITE:
So you'd add a third category on page 5 for the two‑phase.

992

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, yes.

993

MR. WHITE:
Thank you.

994

MR. CAMFIELD:
Thank you, Mr. White, for this clarification.

995

MR. WHITE:
Now, one of the things that is interesting is I notice that you're paying particular attention to transformers kVA per customer. I'm not trying to go on a fishing trip, I'm trying to understand, so I'll ‑‑ please bear with me. If you're dealing with a relatively low customer density of, say, 13 customers per kilometer of line or less, the odds are you're not going to run secondary conductor between multiple customers. So a lot of the diversity that would exist in an urban environment, where multiple customers may be served from the same transformer, would disappear. So the kVA per customer, in a spread‑out area, is probably going to be higher than a ‑‑ than in an urban or a very high‑density situation. And would that influence the comparators and cohorts in your evaluation?

996

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, we would pick that up.

997

MR. WHITE:
And would it show up as an outlier? Or ‑‑

998

MR. CAMFIELD:
It would ‑‑ the effect would be analyzed. To the degree that the effect that you identify, Mr. White, has impact on costs, then we will capture that effect.

999

Am I answering your question, sir?

1000

MR. WHITE:
Not quite, but we can move on regardless.

1001

If ‑‑ in an earlier discussion we had, you indicated that the number of cohorts was not scientifically selected as part of this process, whether it be 4 or 10.

1002

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1003

MR. WHITE:
If ‑‑

1004

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I can construct an objective ‑‑ I can construct criteria that will determine the number of cohorts. The difficulty is that that criteria doesn't, inherently, have a strong underlying reason behind it. That's the problem. We can define criteria, but it doesn't have great foundation.

1005

MR. WHITE:
I'm going to put to you the question that, if you decide, initially, to go with 4 cohorts, for example, and if you were to look at 3 cohorts and 5 cohorts as possible comparison groups that you're going to define, isn't it possible that an outlier in a 4‑cohort sample would end up not being an outlier on a 5‑cohort sample, or a 3‑cohort sample?

1006

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

1007

MR. WHITE:
My final question for you deals with the area of how the tool is to be used as part of an interrogatories‑type process and, if you will, a testing process.

1008

And, if one of my clients were to receive an interrogatory which said, We've looked at you and you're high in item number 2, and ‑‑ frankly, from my perspective, how would you respond to my client if they said to you in that situation, High relative to what? And what's ‑‑ who am I being compared to? And what's the underpinning assumptions that makes me high, relative to whether other people are high?

1009

Would that information be readily available, without giving all of the specific information behind the definition of the cohorts?

1010

MR. CAMFIELD:
Mr. White, I don't know that I can answer the question, because it's not clear to me what the Board and Board Staff would provide in support of its inquiry.

1011

MR. WHITE:
Okay. But are there ‑‑

1012

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would be reluctant to ‑‑ I would be presumptuous in answering your question, I think.

1013

MR. WHITE:
Okay, and that's fair. Let me come at it slightly differently and then we'll ‑‑ I'll thank you very much and pass you on.

1014

If ‑‑ can you extract, from a cohort, that this group is going to be compared to the underpinning norms so that they could be available to Board Staff as saying, Look, this is what we consider to be, sort of, within the normal cluster, and these seem to be the underpinning characteristics that put them there? Therefore, if you go to an outlier, they say, Well, you know, you're different ‑‑ if you're different than these, you're going to have to help us understand why. Because I ‑‑ frankly, I find Board Staff questions, usually, pretty good. And if you can get to what they're really trying to get to, then you can give them an acceptable answer, or not.

1015

MR. CAMFIELD:
The answer to your question is, yes.

1016

MR. WHITE:
Thank you very much.

1017

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'd like to make a correction before we go on ‑ and I apologize for making the same mistake twice ‑ that is, in my response to Mr. White's question about underground and overhead circuits, I notice on page 5, once again, I have listed an information ‑‑ a data‑input element, namely, defining total KM of underground, single phase, and, below it, underground three‑phase circuits, and that enables me to get the information that we need. There is no change needed. I made a mistake.

1018

MR. WHITE:
But you have two‑phase. On page 4.

1019

MR. CAMFIELD:
Two‑phase doesn't matter.

1020

MS. LEA:
Especially at this hour of the day.

1021

MR. WHITE:
Okay.

1022

MR. CAMFIELD:
The reason two‑phase doesn't matter is because I don't understand what it is. The engineers in my consulting firm. This is, like, Fernando Eldorado ‑‑ Professor Eldorado.

1023

MR. WHITE:
After today's session, I'll explain it to you.

1024

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. White.

1025

Mr. Stephenson?

1026

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:

1027

MR. STEPHENSON:
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

1028

Good afternoon. My name is Richard Stephenson. I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

1029

Mr. Camfield, if I can, I just want to take you back to your comments earlier today, regarding the evolution of your ‑‑ or the potential evolution, more correctly, of your C&C model, into something that may come up in the future where ‑‑ in the nature of benchmarking, or using a ‑‑ this kind of model more directly in rate‑setting. You recall you discussed that this morning?

1030

MR. CAMFIELD:
I recall a discussion.

1031

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. And one of the things that you mentioned that you would need to see, prior to this model being evolved and used for rate‑setting purposes, you said, was some accounting for service quality. Do you recall saying that?

1032

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1033

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. And ‑‑

1034

MR. CAMFIELD:
Could I just offer a clarifying comment? As I recall the discussion ‑ and I believe it was a discussion with Mr. Warren ‑ about the application ‑‑ or evolution, as you say, of the C&C mechanism, to something that can be used for overall general performance assessment, to my thinking it's another step to say that that assessment would be used for rate‑making purposes. It could be. It could be going down the road of what is commonly known as "yardstick competition" for setting rates, or some form of PBR. That's possible, but that was not part of my answer in saying that it could evolve to benchmarking, in a general way. I think you ‑‑

1035

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair enough. And, actually, I thank you for qualifying in that way. And, perhaps, let me ask you this open‑ended question in response to that: If it were to evolve for use in some form of PBR yardstick rate‑making, would there be additional safeguards or whatever ‑‑ additional steps ‑‑ additional modifications that you would want to, or need to, see, in order to satisfy yourself that it was appropriate for that purpose?

1036

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, I am certain that is the case.

1037

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. And I take it that that's not necessarily a simple exercise and you would, before answering that question, I'm not going to ask you to do it, you would want to go and consider that in a very thorough way.

1038

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1039

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair?

1040

MR. CAMFIELD:
Certainly.

1041

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. Let me come back to one step back then, where we were this morning, and that is the evolution of C&C into a fully‑fledged benchmarking tool, if I can call it that, and specifically the issue of service quality that you mentioned.

1042

Am I correct that in order to accomplish that task there would need to be at least, in your mind, two aspects of that exercise achieved. The first is you've got to figure out exactly what aspects of the service quality you're going to measure and ensure that you get proper data on those measures. That's the first thing you've got to do.

1043

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's one thing you have to do.

1044

MR. STEPHENSON:
Yes. And another thing, there may be more than two, but another thing I heard you specifically mention is that you would need to go out and satisfy yourself how you're going to place a value on variances in service quality from a customer perspective. Did I understand that correctly?

1045

MR. CAMFIELD:
What it might be worth to them.

1046

MR. STEPHENSON:
Right. And what I ‑‑ I take it that ‑‑

1047

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would suggest that you would need to do that. At least in my mind, it's appropriate to use that basis of worth of a service‑quality metric to customers as a basis to assemble a composite measure of performance.

1048

MR. STEPHENSON:
Right. And I take it that the reason you need to do that is because service quality is really an output of the ‑‑ of the ‑‑ it's part of the product that the LDC supplies. The LDC just doesn't supply kilowatts or kilowatt hours, they supply kilowatt or kilowatt‑hours that have certain characteristics, and this is one of them; fair?

1049

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, it's rather hedonic that way.

1050

MR. STEPHENSON:
And assuming the customers place a different value on power, which is more reliable rather than less reliable, they are not identical products.

1051

MR. CAMFIELD:
Attributes.

1052

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. And I take it that different customers obviously might place different values on differences in service quality. For some people it might be an annoyance, and for other customers it may have real hard tangible economic value.

1053

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

1054

MR. STEPHENSON:
And so the reason, I take it, that you would, prior to feeling comfortable using this kind of measurement as a fully‑fledged benchmarking tool, the reason why you want to have service quality in there is because of ‑‑ you genuinely do want to do an apples‑to‑apples comparison, and service quality is one of the factors that you take into account in terms of whether you've actually got apples or not; is that fair? I assumed that's why it was necessary to go through this exercise at all.

1055

MR. CAMFIELD:
The objective would be some composite measure of performance, and we recognize that, should we say, the service of the outputs of the LDC vary across characteristics or attributes, and so we have to find a way to combine them.

1056

MR. STEPHENSON:
Right.

1057

MR. CAMFIELD:
To bring apples and oranges together in, kind of, a whole.

1058

MR. STEPHENSON:
All right. But to come to it very simply, that if you've got two LDCs that are, in all respects, identical, but one of them has measurably lower reliability, obviously, that's something that you would want to take into account in assessing whether or not they are, in fact, the same.

1059

MR. CAMFIELD:
Within the world of composite measurement, that is correct.

1060

MR. STEPHENSON:
Now, in terms of we've been talking what your C&C analysis might evolve into, and I take it that at least part of the reason why the issue of service quality is part of the evolution is that it's an additional layer of complexity and/or data and data reliability that doesn't exist in your present model. Is that at least part of the reason why you view that as an evolutionary issue?

1061

MR. CAMFIELD:
Perhaps partly. I guess I was thinking of evolution to a different form, the C&C.

1062

MR. STEPHENSON:
But isn't service quality a perfectly relevant factor which could have been taken into account in your C&C analysis?

1063

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, it could have. That has to be specific to the regulatory context. The regulatory and rate‑making institutional context has to accommodate that, it has to fit with that context.

1064

MR. STEPHENSON:
I take it you know, sir, that the LDCs are required, in fact, to record and report certain service quality ‑‑

1065

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I'm aware of that.

1066

MR. STEPHENSON:
‑‑ attributes. And if the purpose of C&C is to, in effect, give the Board and Board Staff and intervenors information, in effect, of how a particular LDC is doing on a cost basis as compared to other similarly‑situated LDCs, you'd agree with me that their service quality is at least a potentially relevant factor in assessing the degree to which they're similarly situated.

1067

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I agree.

1068

MR. STEPHENSON:
And is the reason that you haven't done that essentially a ‑‑ it was excluded not because it's irrelevant, I take it, because you've just agreed with me that it is relevant, but it's just essentially a cost‑benefit analysis. That it's just, given the limited objectives of C&C, namely as a flag‑raising exercise for further scrutiny, it simply wasn't ‑‑ didn't merit the additional effort that would be required to do it correctly.

1069

MR. CAMFIELD:
I do what my client wants me to do.

1070

MR. STEPHENSON:
All right.

1071

MR. CAMFIELD:
It was not in my retainer. I was not asked to do that. It's like that. If my retainer with the Ontario Energy Board were to cover the elements that you are suggesting here, then I would pursue that.

1072

MR. STEPHENSON:
Okay. And as you've said ‑‑

1073

MR. CAMFIELD:
But it would take some development and some resources and some work.

1074

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair enough. But you don't ‑‑ you've already agreed with me that it is relevant, it's a relevant factor to take into account for a comparison exercise.

1075

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1076

MR. STEPHENSON:
Is, in your view, the value of the comparison exercise that you have produced undermined in any material way by the fact it doesn't include service quality as a comparing factor?

1077

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, it is not.

1078

MR. STEPHENSON:
And even if ‑‑ let me just ask you, and I'm not suggesting that this is an accurate hypothetical, but for the purposes of this, let's just assume you do have a hypothetical where you've got within a cohort of however many LDCs there are in that cohort, you've got within the ‑‑ assume you've got an LDC that's not an outlier. It's within a reasonable range, but it turns out that it has a terrible reliability record. And the reason it's got a terrible reliability record is that it's chronically and historically underspent on reliability‑related matters.

1079

In that hypothetical, you'd agree with me that your C&C analysis would be entirely unhelpful in flagging that utility for further scrutiny.

1080

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

1081

MR. STEPHENSON:
And, in fact, it would be misleading in the sense that it would create an illusion that you have like entities being treated in a like fashion, when they're not the same at all.

1082

MR. CAMFIELD:
From the perspective of a global measure ‑‑ at least, a larger range of measures, I would say, within the context of your hypothetical, that would be correct. Again, I would caveat all this with fit to the regulatory context.

1083

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair enough. I understand that you don't make the Board's rules with respect to what they ‑‑ how they regulate these utilities.

1084

Let me just ask you ‑‑ just a more general question, stepping back from service quality for a moment. The great benefit of the proposal that you advance, as I understand it, is the very thing it's designed to do, which is to raise a flag, to identify an outlier for further inquiry. That's the purpose; correct?

1085

MR. CAMFIELD:
To assess directly‑incurred cost‑performance ‑‑

1086

MR. STEPHENSON:
Yes ‑‑

1087

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ generally ‑‑

1088

MR. STEPHENSON:
‑‑ yes, I understand.

1089

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ to play good cost‑performance ‑‑

1090

MR. STEPHENSON:
Yes.

1091

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ you can expect that the application by the Board Staff will be cost anomalies that are higher than the peer group. But, on the other hand, I think it will provide evidence of favorable cost‑experience as well.

1092

MR. STEPHENSON:
Now, is there a danger, however, that this mechanism could mask the performance of utilities which are not outliers? And what I mean by that is this: that you might have a utility that's got certain natural advantages, such that it should be, by all objective analysis, a very low‑cost utility; but, because of, let's just say generically "inefficiency," it's not a very low‑cost utility. Its costs are higher than they should be, objectively, but they're not so high as to make it an outlier. They wind up smack dab in the middle.

1093

Does your system not create the risk that, because it's not an outlier, there will be a false sense of security regarding the reasonableness of that utility's costs?

1094

MR. CAMFIELD:
The C&C mechanism is statistical benchmarking, and it develops estimates of cost. It will, inherently, have estimation error. To the degree that it does not identify underlying poor cost‑performance that could result as ‑‑ just a result of statistical modeling.

1095

MR. STEPHENSON:
Right. It's just an inherent limitation ‑‑

1096

MR. CAMFIELD:
Sure, that's possible.

1097

MR. STEPHENSON:
‑‑ of the system.

1098

MR. CAMFIELD:
Conversely, it may not highlight good cost‑performance. And I think that this ‑‑

1099

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair enough ‑‑

1100

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ the overall structure, like all estimators ‑‑ I mean, like all statistic estimators, faces type‑1, type‑2 errors.

1101

MR. STEPHENSON:
Fair enough. And the solution to that is that it just ‑‑ it would become important for Board Staff, and for the Board, to be sensitive to the limitations of the model, and not to assume that it's a panacea and that it ‑‑ it's only a tool, but it's not the only tool.

1102

MR. CAMFIELD:
Absolutely. Yeah, certainly.

1103

MR. STEPHENSON:
Those are my questions.

1104

Thank you very much.

1105

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

1106

We'll take the afternoon break now, 15 minutes.

1107

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.

1108

‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:33 p.m.

1109

MR. KAISER:
Please be seated.

1110

Mr. Adams.

1111

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

1112

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. ADAMS:

1113

MR. ADAMS:
Mr. Camfield, my name is Tom Adams. I'm asking questions today on behalf of Energy Probe, a consumer and environmental research group.

1114

MR. CAMFIELD:
How are you, Mr. Adams?

1115

MR. ADAMS:
I have the regrettable position of being, except for the questions of the Board, the last person that sits between you and a well‑deserved glass of beer at the end of the day. So I'll try and keep my questions short.

1116

The framework that you set out for your evidence focuses on the efficiency of the regulatory process and the review to be undertaken by Board Staff. I just want to establish at the outset that the ultimate purpose in all of this is to establish rates for consumers that are as low as reasonably achievable in a sustained sense.

1117

MR. CAMFIELD:
In a near term and sustained sense, that's correct.

1118

MR. ADAMS:
So when we're considering the potential costs and benefits alternative approaches of analysis, we ought to keep that in the back of our minds. We're trying to come up with reasonable costs, we're trying to come up with ways of assessing and verifying the costs, that the rate proposals of utilities are appropriate.

1119

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1120

MR. ADAMS:
Now, an issue that's arisen in the questioning of many of the parties here today has been the question of how to quantify, how to grapple with what the importance is, the significance of uncertainty, both with respect to measurement and analysis. And I want to address some questions to this, to your ‑‑ the meaning you suggest we have to attach to some of this stuff in the area of uncertainty. And I want to suggest to you at the outset of this that, whereas previously you described some aspects of quantitative analysis of cost proposals from utilities as experimental, in Ontario the institutional context we find ourselves in is one where our utilities have not been subject to thorough public regulation in previous years. Have you, in your great experience dealing with utilities, have you ever dealt with utilities, electric distribution utilities that have been subject to so little public scrutiny as the utilities you are now charged with assessing here in Ontario?

1121

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, absolutely.

1122

MR. ADAMS:
And what kind of utilities would those be, electric distribution utilities?

1123

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I had mentioned earlier the Poland LDCs, they are the LDCs that are part of their electricity sector. I work with and have worked with numerous rural cooperatives in the United States, and I've done economic costing for municipalities in the United States, as well as cooperatives. And I would say that that's a fairly good match, as far as regulatory governance is concerned, with the LDCs of Ontario. It's not a perfect match, but certainly similar.

1124

MR. ADAMS:
Historically, that's not currently the corporate structure of our utilities, but historically, do you appreciate that in Ontario our electric distribution utilities were, effectively, co‑ops operating on behalf of their customers.

1125

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, and they have been corporatized.

1126

MR. ADAMS:
Right.

1127

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I understood.

1128

MR. ADAMS:
Not all of our electric LDCs, but in the main that has been the case.

1129

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1130

MR. ADAMS:
Now ‑‑

1131

MR. CAMFIELD:
And I think if I ‑‑ if I may elaborate a little bit. I see corporatization separate and distinct from privatization.

1132

MR. ADAMS:
Yes, I appreciate that distinction. So in the instance where utilities are coming into the light, as it were, of public scrutiny, is it your experience that issues related to, for example, data quality and filings, the depth of the filing record going back historically and the consistency and maintenance of those records might be somewhat less with respect to those new utilities coming into the light of regulatory scrutiny as compared to traditional IOUs that have been subject to thorough going public scrutiny in front of public regulators for long periods of time.

1133

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, the experience is very mixed as regards to historical data records. I had talked about or at least alluded to, as I recall, the extensive work that I have done with Poland. Not all of that in distribution, but certainly records, accounting records, measures of cost historically and in current time frames, it was and is an issue there.

1134

Now, in the case of the rural cooperatives of the United States, and this is the larger base of my experience, as well as municipalities in the United States, they have data records, Mr. Adams, that is, in many cases, every bit as good as the investor‑owned utilities, under the same sort of cost accounting system. It's not exactly the same, but it parallels the IOU system, which is commonly known as the FERC system, which dates to 1938, very close.

1135

MR. ADAMS:
So these are ‑‑ these rural cooperatives would have been following models that had been established for the purposes of IOUs.

1136

MR. CAMFIELD:
As far as data records are concerned, yes.

1137

MR. ADAMS:
Yes. So on ‑‑ I guess there's been criticisms about the quality of the data that's available for analysis here, and these criticisms have arisen in some of these discussions here today. Just looking for an overview comment from you as to what we're to make of this. Can we adopt analytical approaches that establish a reasonable agree of understanding to guide, at least as a screening tool, the decisions that this Board has to take with regard to 2006?

1138

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think so.

1139

MR. ADAMS:
Now, one of the areas that your report has been criticized by Dr. Lowry with respect to is the decision you've taken to disaggregate some of the subcomponents of the business, of the distribution utilities, into smaller packages, and to address your analysis to those. Can you just describe for us why you've adopted the disaggregated approach? What do you see as the benefits of pursuing that approach?

1140

MR. CAMFIELD:
For assessment and comparability, it's, in my view, appropriate to disaggregate separable services. And the separability, I think, is the key criteria, and there it's appropriate to have a basis to understand and a basis to compare unbundled services to the degree that separability allows. Separability means that there is not a cost and resource bleeding, or at least much, between one unbundled service and another. My clients in the United States, and many utilities that I know ‑ I have many contacts in the United States, with the larger, investor‑owned utilities; some of these are the real major utilities, like Southern, SEC Corp., and so forth ‑ and the goings on there is to engage in their own benchmarking activities, at a highly‑detailed level. So they'll unbundle, within what they might refer to as "customer services", billings or collections; they'll have DSM activities, marketing activities, pricing and rate‑design activities. All these are unbundled and then, among their peers, collectively benchmark themselves. So they have, kind of, consortia, where they will benchmark each other, according to commonly‑defined criteria, as best they can obtain them.

1141

Now, some of these utilities will pursue the unbundling for benchmarking much more deeply, maybe, than others. But this is going on.

1142

MR. ADAMS:
Specifically, with regard to this severability ‑‑

1143

MR. CAMFIELD:
Separability.

1144

MR. ADAMS:
‑‑ separability of these costs for analytical purposes, would you agree that it might be appropriate for the Board to separately treat C&DM costs and smart‑metering costs as two examples of costs that might be removed from what might be considered base LDC operations costs ‑‑ or the cost of service? Or would you propose to include the C&DM and smart‑metering initiatives ‑‑

1145

MR. CAMFIELD:
Are there resources used for smart‑metering? In your example, the question to ask, and the Board ‑‑ I would suggest that the Board consider addressing the question that you raise ‑ separability of smart‑metering ‑ according to a general criteria of, Are the resources employed in that activity separable?

1146

MR. ADAMS:
And with regard to C&DM?

1147

MR. CAMFIELD:
Same criteria. I think it's a ‑‑ kind of, a general way to enable a decision‑maker to look at the issue of, To what degree do you want to unbundle?

1148

MR. ADAMS:
In the regulatory context here, the Board has been involved in making decisions, in recent times, with respect, separately, to C&DM, and also with respect to smart‑metering. Some of these are relatively new business activities for the LDCs. Does that novelty, and also its specific treatment by the regulator, make these areas ‑‑ these two areas candidates for separate treatment?

1149

MR. CAMFIELD:
Potentially, I think that's right. I think the size of the activity matters, as well. Because, when you think about an unbundling exercise, we're talking, in some cases, about imposing upon the LDCs, potentially, some disaggregation, if you go too far, of cost, and keeping new records and new record systems. And it's not just a matter of the cost records, but other dimensions of records for these newly‑defined unbundled services. And that can be kind of costly to operationalize, but also to transition to.

1150

So you want to think about the gains to doing all that, and whether it's going to be something that's a sustainable function and activity and unbundled thing in the future. So those would be the sort of considerations that I would suggest, Mr. Adams, drive those sorts of decisions. And is it big enough to be worthwhile?

1151

MR. ADAMS:
You commented, previously, on your recommendation that First Nations utilities and Hydro One Networks be excluded from the cluster analysis. Was that recommendation ‑‑ I'm sorry, excluded from the ‑‑ from your analysis, generally. Was that exclusion based on cluster‑analysis results?

1152

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, that was based upon an a priori decision.

1153

MR. ADAMS:
Now, would you anticipate that, had that a priori decision not been made, that the cluster analysis would have identified those utilities as outliers, and promoted them for further specific treatment?

1154

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't know.

1155

MR. ADAMS:
Now, your ‑‑

1156

MR. CAMFIELD:
I think you raise an interesting hypothesis. I mean, we make a decision to exclude some entities from the overall process, and then your ‑‑ I think, the question, as stated, as a hypothetical question, or a hypothesis, is whether or not are these ‑‑ are the entities that we have selected a priori to leave out truly different, from a perspective of sum and analysis of cost patterns? And that question ‑‑ that hypothesis remains unanswered.

1157

MR. ADAMS:
I'm mindful of the line of questioning that Mr. White developed with you previously, where he identified some utilities that may have common characteristics with the ones that, on the basis of your a priori judgment, you decided to exclude. And so I was wondering whether cluster analysis might be an alternative approach for making those exclusions, rather than the a priori?

1158

MR. CAMFIELD:
To address the hypothesis to include or exclude, because they are different, is a statistical question. We wouldn't approach that with cluster‑analysis methods. We would address it with a different statistical analysis. But, within your general framework, I would say yes.

1159

MR. ADAMS:
Let's ‑‑ before we get to cluster analysis and, specifically, with regard to the outcome from some regression analysis that you propose to do at the early rounds of your assessment catalogue, we may, hopefully, identify some coefficients that give us some feeling for the relationship between cost drivers and outcomes; right?

1160

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's correct.

1161

MR. ADAMS:
Now, let's take some simple examples, perhaps customer‑care cost on a cost‑per‑customer basis. And you may, through regression analysis, identify some relationships between various cost drivers for the population of LDCs in Ontario that excludes the First Nations utilities and Hydro One Networks. Would it be appropriate to compare the results of cost‑per‑customer ‑‑ the same indices with the coefficients derived from the other population, to have a look to see whether, for example, Hydro One Networks falls within the ballpark that is suggested by the results of the coefficients from the other regressions?

1162

MR. CAMFIELD:
You could do that. It would be inconsistent with formal analytical procedures, and that's because you're applying some out‑of‑sample, right‑hand‑side variables to coefficients that were estimated within a ‑‑ from a different set of data.

1163

MR. ADAMS:
But there might ‑‑

1164

MR. CAMFIELD:
The way you'd want to approach the problem ‑‑

1165

MR. ADAMS:
Yes.

1166

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ is just get comparable data for Hydro One LDCs or, what should we say, one set of entities to that of another set of entities, run the analysis and then test, formally, Are they different or not?

1167

MR. ADAMS:
The ‑‑

1168

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I have to call it ‑‑ or, at least, that's how I would approach it. Perhaps I should talk to my team back in Madison, but I think that's how they would concur ‑‑ they would concur with that approach. It's a hypothesis test. Are they the same or not?

1169

MR. ADAMS:
Right.

1170

MR. CAMFIELD:
Are the samples drawn from the same population? That's the issue.

1171

MR. ADAMS:
The scope of your agreement in this case invited you to look only within Ontario, and the data set that you've been working with is only within Ontario. So I can appreciate that when you expand to inter‑jurisdictional comparisons and inter‑jurisdictional benchmarking, a whole host of new issues enter into the analysis. But specifically with regard to the remote communities' off‑grid electricity service, which, for consumers in Ontario, represents a special tax on electricity that we all pay to contribute to freight the cost, there are across Canada, in almost every province, utilities of very similar type, that is, remote, off‑grid communities served by utilities in much the same fashion as the Hydro One Networks remote communities are served in Ontario.

1172

My question to you is: Could benchmarking tools be used to assess the efficiency of delivery of remote service in Ontario and the corresponding costs?

1173

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, potentially.

1174

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you.

1175

A couple of questions with regard to your comments on the UK experience previously. I took you, from your previous comments, to be saying that the market structure in the UK is now so different from the market structure in Ontario that the lessons from benchmarking there are not applicable to Ontario; is that a fair summarization?

1176

MR. CAMFIELD:
I might have characterized it that way. That may have been too strong of a characterization. I would say that I would be reluctant to generalize the UK experience and any lessons there about benchmarking cost experience to that of Ontario. I would be really reluctant to do that, because I think the environments are, at least by just cursory inspection, are remarkably different.

1177

MR. ADAMS:
Let me take you to a couple of specifics to get your reflection on them. In the UK, they ‑‑ one of the observations that arises after many years of PBR and benchmarking analysis has been that the regulator has, by retrospective view looking back at previous decisions, come to the conclusion that they have underjudged the reserves of an inefficiency available to the distribution utilities in a systematic way over a long period of time, and this has resulted in rate of return for the utilities that exceeded expectations. Do you think there is any learning from that experience that could be borrowed for us here in Ontario as we start the process of using analytical approaches to understand the cost of our electric distribution utilities?

1178

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, if the corporate governance structure is the same. In the UK, the privatization there was an aggressive enormous step, transition, suddenly made to ‑‑ now suddenly, one Monday morning, you have these LDCs privatize through a big securitization. And as you have suggested, the profit incentives were strong and the realized gains and efficiencies were much, much higher than anybody expected. This was the first time this sort of thing had been done worldwide, and so everyone was surprised by the gains in efficiency and the productivity realized, it was just dramatic. But it's not clear to me that that story fits and provides lessons for Ontario.

1179

MR. ADAMS:
How about this one: In the UK, one of the patterns they've identified in analysis in recent years is the counterintuitive result that being that electric distribution utilities that appear to be very efficient also appear to be the ones that make the greatest efficiency gains in success of PBR periods, whereas one might normally have anticipated that the high‑cost, poorly‑operating utilities, ones that appear under the analytical tools to be the poor performers, they would be the ones with reserves of efficiency that might be harvested most easily.

1180

MR. CAMFIELD:
Mm‑hm.

1181

MR. ADAMS:
The opposite appears to be the case.

1182

MR. CAMFIELD:
Efficiency gains don't appear to be something that is exhaustible. The high performers continue to be and remain high performers. They continue to make the gains.

1183

MR. ADAMS:
This suggests that efficient operators tend to be the ones that are most able to identify new efficiency gains.

1184

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's right.

1185

MR. ADAMS:
Is there any learning from that observation that might benefit us here in Ontario?

1186

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I would say you'd want to assess efficiency change over time of the LDCs in Ontario, find out how they're differentiated, and see if those ‑‑ the high gainers continue to be high gainers. I think that would be the lesson. But again, I caution us to not reach much farther than that, and that's because the profit incentive of ‑‑ to the investor‑owned company is strong often. That's a different ‑‑ it's different than it is here.

1187

MR. ADAMS:
Let me try one last foray in this area, and that is ‑‑ and it's my observation that the UK regulator appears to be somewhat insecure about their ability to accurately understand the efficiency frontier. And arising, it appears to me, from some sense of humility about their ability of these particular tools, the UK regulator has decided to adopt a multi‑pronged approach.

1188

MR. CAMFIELD:
Mm‑hm.

1189

MR. ADAMS:
They come at this problem from the top, from the bottom, from the side. They bring engineers in to study the costs of maintenance and they look at total factor productivity. They try operating cost alone, they use DEA, they use SRA, they ‑‑ they go at it with all tools available.

1190

MR. CAMFIELD:
Mm‑hm.

1191

MR. ADAMS:
So my question to you is: Do you think there is learning from that experience in the merit of using multiple analytic approaches to grasping the nature of this problem?

1192

MR. CAMFIELD:
Possibly. I think it's something that, perhaps, ought to be explored. That doesn't help us necessarily, at least as I can see it, over the next couple months in the 2006 EDR.

1193

MR. ADAMS:
Let me follow that up and make a suggestion to you and get your reflection on it. This follows on the questions that Mr. Shepherd previously put to you, a similar suggestion he made with regard to a very clear, it seems to me, and customer‑friendly approach to top‑down analysis. He was talking about using rates as a screening tool.

1194

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yeah.

1195

MR. ADAMS:
And my question to you is: In the same vein ‑ I won't repeat his logic, but following on his concept ‑ could we use the gross financial performance of the LDCs also as a screening tool; that is, the ability of the LDCs to earn returns on their invested capital as an index?

1196

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, I don't think you can, because when you're looking at earned returns, you're looking at and implicitly assessing accounting policies. You're implicitly assessing results that reflect, perhaps, under‑investment, that may, in the longer term, give rise to declines or derogation in service quality ‑‑ a number of things. So I do not think you can necessarily look at financial performance as a basis to assess efficiency alone.

1197

MR. ADAMS:
I wasn't asking for it alone, I was asking for it as a screening tool, in a situation where we're using multiple approaches.

1198

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, potentially, maybe. But I don't see it as a plausible path for multiple approaches. I do, Mr. Adams, concur with the view that, in the longer term, a multi‑dimensional look, because of the problems that you identify in a single analytical basis, is fruitful for exploration in the future. But I don't think that one of those paths would be a financial screen.

1199

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you.

1200

I've got a couple of questions with regard to your treatment of the data, and the analysis and the regressions. If I could turn you to Exhibit 2, starting at page 34.

1201

MS. LEA:
Sorry, what was that exhibit number again?

1202

MR. ADAMS:
Exhibit 2 of B.4.

1203

MS. LEA:
Oh, B.4. Thank you.

1204

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have it.

1205

MS. LEA:
That's the appendix at the back of the exhibit? Thank you.

1206

MR. ADAMS:
Mr. Camfield, in this exhibit, you present the results of some of the regressions. And one observation that jumps out at me, off the top, is that the number of observations in each of the cases ‑‑ in each of the regression runs is not the same. The numbers jump up and down: 164, 161, 152, 171. Can you explain to us how the panel data was assembled for the purposes of each of these runs?

1207

MR. CAMFIELD:
We used as much of the LDC cost experience as we could, Mr. Adams. But, due to the fact that the data was incomplete, inconsistencies ‑‑ or a situation where we just didn't understand what a data record might be, giving rise to that LDC being excluded. But, predominantly, the differences, which are significant, I mean, 152 versus 164, I mean, that's 12 LDCs, literally, that are out of the ‑‑ from one equation here. And that's due to, predominantly, missing data.

1208

MR. ADAMS:
So, when there was a missing case, did you throw out both the 2002 and 2003 so that the panel data retained its completeness with regard to each of the cells in the matrix?

1209

MR. CAMFIELD:
I don't know the answer to that question. I will have to make a phone call. I'll get you an answer to that question ‑‑

1210

MR. ADAMS:
Because what gives rise ‑‑

1211

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I would say that's likely.

1212

MR. ADAMS:
But we observe that, in some instances, there's an odd number of observations for some of the these regression runs.

1213

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, yes.

1214

MR. ADAMS:
And that suggests that there may be some blank holes in the panel data.

1215

MR. CAMFIELD:
Might be.

1216

MR. ADAMS:
Without getting into it too far, can you accept that, if there are blank holes in the panel data, that could give rise to ‑‑

1217

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's curious.

1218

MS. LEA:
Mr. Adams, did you want an answer by way of undertaking out of that, or are you content with the record as it sits?

1219

MR. ADAMS:
Perhaps we could get some ‑‑ we could ask for a clarification as to the composition of the data sets.

1220

MR. CAMFIELD:
Okay.

1221

MS. LEA:
That would be Undertaking E.6.1.

1222

UNDERTAKING NO. E.6.1:
TO PROVIDE CLARIFICATION OF THE COMPOSITION OF THE DATA SETS EMPLOYED FOR THE REGRESSION RUNS IN EXHIBIT B.4.2

1223

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you.

1224

MR. CAMFIELD:
I did not run these regressions. These were run under my direction. Just so you know, Mr. Adams ‑‑

1225

MR. ADAMS:
Sure ‑‑

1226

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ so I need to ‑‑

1227

MR. ADAMS:
It just would be helpful for us in appreciating what's going on here ‑‑

1228

MR. CAMFIELD:
I understand.

1229

MR. ADAMS:
‑‑ to some prior degree. If I can turn you to page 35?

1230

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1231

MR. ADAMS:
This is the wires and connections services Op cost.

1232

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1233

MR. ADAMS:
When we were considering this ‑‑ the results, a concern arose in our minds with regard to potential multi‑colinearity, since ‑‑ two of the variables ‑‑ one of the variables is customers, another is gross assets.

1234

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1235

MR. ADAMS:
Do you ‑‑ did you test for multi‑colinearity in this regression run?

1236

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, because it is a non‑issue.

1237

MR. ADAMS:
Help me understand that.

1238

MR. CAMFIELD:
Certainly. The right‑hand‑side variables, as listed here, Mr. Adams, do have multi‑colinearity, but it is not of sufficient strength to cause any one of the variables to be statistically insignificant. It is ‑‑ so it's not a problem, at least, in the general sense.

1239

We would expect that total customers, the output variable here, is positively related to operations and maintenance expenses, and so ‑‑ I can go through each of the variables like this, but I think the sign tells the story. But it's the T‑value that, I think, is determining. And so it's ‑‑ I don't see it as an issue, sir.

1240

MR. ADAMS:
Let me try this sign on these coefficients for a second, and see if I can get a better understanding. The sign for the share of underground lines suggests that the more underground lines you've got, the lower your operating‑cost expenses are.

1241

MR. CAMFIELD:
That is the correct interpretation, sir.

1242

MR. ADAMS:
Because of the negative sign different kind of sign? On the coefficient; correct?

1243

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1244

MR. ADAMS:
Now, all my engineer friends tell me that the lifetime cost of distribution service underground is substantially more costly than for aerial systems?

1245

MR. CAMFIELD:
Investment cost?

1246

MR. ADAMS:
No operating.

1247

MR. CAMFIELD:
Operations and maintenance costs.

1248

MR. ADAMS:
Operations and maintenance costs. Do I have an incorrect understanding of that?

1249

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, you may have the correct understanding, but it is certainly different than my understanding. I expect that current operations and maintenance expenses to decline as the share of distribution lines underground increases, other factors constant.

1250

MR. ADAMS:
Could it be the case that the underground lines in Ontario tend to be younger in age, and, therefore ‑‑

1251

MR. CAMFIELD:
Potentially. Age may enter into this. Age is something I have not be able to capture well. I didn't have observations of age. I might be able to infer it, but I could not construct an age variable within the time frame. So I ‑ notice ‑ included here accumulated depreciation squared. You'd expect that as that gets larger, that it would suggest, everything else remaining constant, that the plant is of increased age. And notice how, indeed, it fits with the right sign.

1252

MR. ADAMS:
Now ‑‑

1253

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I don't want to read too much ‑‑ have us read in ‑‑ too much into this, quite frankly, because there ‑‑ I need to get a better age variable. Yeah.

1254

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you. Now, I understand for the purposes of 2006, you are intending to use 2004 data, not in a panel data format, a one‑year ‑‑ it's a badly articulated question, I'm sorry.

1255

MR. CAMFIELD:
I understand what you're asking.

1256

MR. ADAMS:
My question is: Did you do regressions on the 2002 and 2003 data, available data, separately in the same way as you had proposed to do for 2004?

1257

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, let's address the premise of your question, and that is the choice of a non‑panel data dimension for the forward analysis, right? And I'm suggesting that our intentions are absolutely to use the entire panel, 2002 through 2004, to do the economic analysis.

1258

Now, the analysis that is reported and used in the cohorts and the diagnostic statistics, yes, because we're looking at a more contemporary year, 2004, which is what the Board Staff will need, will be reported. But the economic analysis, step 2 of the comparators and cohorts process, will use the full panel data set. I want to use as much information as I can.

1259

MR. ADAMS:
Right. Did you consider the use of dummy variables to account for territory description like the Canadian Shield?

1260

MR. CAMFIELD:
I couldn't ‑‑ to build that variable ‑‑ we will do that, but to build that variable might take a day. I didn't have a day to build it in.

1261

MR. ADAMS:
I appreciate that. But you support that approach?

1262

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, absolutely, sure.

1263

MR. ADAMS:
Have you regressed a cost‑per‑customer versus these cost drivers.

1264

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1265

MR. ADAMS:
Can you share some of those results with us?

1266

MR. CAMFIELD:
We did at one point the unit cost and the result is as we all expect, the standard errors decline, and decline a lot. The regression analyses don't fit as well in the sense that the ‑‑ let me explain that. The set of right‑hand‑side variables changes as you evolve that approach, as expected. It's certainly our approach to report unit‑cost models as we go ahead. We don't necessarily need to conduct the economic analysis on a unit‑cost basis to determine unit cost.

1267

MR. ADAMS:
Right, but they could be helpful in identifying cost drivers.

1268

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1269

MR. ADAMS:
Are any of these results in a format that are suitable for presentation, unit‑cost analysis?

1270

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm reluctant to release that at this time because of measurement problems with capital. But it's our general view that a unit‑cost approach ‑‑ you've seen my presentations, I trust, Mr. Adams. And I talk about these two different ways of going ahead, and at least in the formal literature on the empirical work, you find both total‑cost and unit‑cost models being used, but you can get the same answers either way. If I can get better, more plausible and more granular differentiation of impacts with the total‑cost approach, then I'm inclined to go that way.

1271

MR. ADAMS:
Let me delve into this capital cost problem. Would you accept, as a general proposition, that of all of your proposals here, the one that seems most experimental, to use your term, is the proposal to include capital, and specifically, the net capital stock proposal?

1272

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Sorry, I couldn't hear that, Mr. Adams.

1273

MR. ADAMS:
I'll repeat my question.

1274

MR. SOMMERVILLE:
Thank you.

1275

MR. ADAMS:
Would you accept that the element of all of your proposals that appears to be most experimental is the proposal to use a measure of capital, specifically the net capital stock proposal?

1276

MR. CAMFIELD:
Oh, to the contrary. The choice or desire to use an economic capital stock is a foundation.

1277

MR. ADAMS:
The desire's there ‑‑

1278

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's certainly not experimental, it's been widely adopted and applied.

1279

MR. ADAMS:
Which regulators are using it?

1280

MR. CAMFIELD:
I could not name them.

1281

MR. ADAMS:
Are you aware of any ‑‑

1282

MR. CAMFIELD:
I mean the bulk of total factory productivity studies, the bulk of cost studies in the formal literature, all use economic stock measures of capital. It's very common.

1283

MR. ADAMS:
Are you aware ‑‑

1284

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's not at all to be considered experimental.

1285

MR. ADAMS:
Just a few last areas to canvass with you. For beyond 2006, there were a number of questions that arose, and I just wanted to get the benefit of your expertise in this area. You had a discussion with a representative for the PWU about SQI data. Would you accept that SQIs could, if we had appropriate data, be considered as a potential cost driver, a candidate cost driver for analytical purposes?

1286

MR. CAMFIELD:
SQI as reported is both ‑‑ has dimensions of costs and implies ‑‑ I'm not sure on that. Let me just think through this for a minute.

1287

So we have service‑quality index suggesting low quality of service, and as a result of that, and implicit in that is that a higher service‑quality costs incurred by consumers. And I think you're suggesting lower direct costs are experienced and incurred by distribution utilities. Do I have the train of thinking correct here?

1288

MR. ADAMS:
Yes.

1289

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have not thought about this. I'll have to give this some consideration. You have surprised me. I'll get you an answer on this.

1290

MR. ADAMS:
Can we have an undertaking.

1291

MS. LEA:
Certainly. I need to understand a little better exactly what the question is. Is the use of SQIs as a potential cost driver ‑‑

1292

MR. ADAMS:
Candidate cost driver.

1293

MS. LEA:
E.6.2.

1294

UNDERTAKING NO. E.6.2:
TO PROVIDE AN ANSWER TO THE QUESTION: BEYOND 2006, COULD SQIs BE USED AS A COST DRIVER FOR ANALYTICAL PURPOSES

1295

MR. CAMFIELD:
I need to confer with my project team on this, Mr. Adams, to see what we can come up with.

1296

MR. ADAMS:
Perfectly understandable.

1297

MR. CAMFIELD:
You have surprised me.

1298

MR. ADAMS:
Just to make it clear for the purposes of this undertaking, this is with regard to beyond 2006.

1299

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes. I understand.

1300

MR. ADAMS:
Not as a candidate.

1301

MS. LEA:
I'll add that note. Thank you.

1302

MR. ADAMS:
Can I just turn you to a couple of pages of your document. This is again B.4, page 12, and there's a discussion, a general discussion of customer service.

1303

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1304

MR. ADAMS:
There are a number of examples of different types of customer service, and two of the examples that are provided are enhanced quality and insurance products.

1305

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1306

MR. ADAMS:
Is that discussion based on any specific examples that you're aware of in Ontario, or is that just a general discussion?

1307

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have a client that has an enhanced service‑quality special service that they offer to retail consumers. This has to do with the signal quality of electricity, and in New Zealand, a client of mine there was considering an insurance product. So let's say, for example, that, well, it's very costly for me to deliver the service quality that's needed in some remote area so they were thinking about offering an insurance option.

1308

MR. ADAMS:
So these examples are not Ontario‑based examples but they're from the general literature.

1309

MR. CAMFIELD:
General experience and just my general knowledge.

1310

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you. Those are interesting.

1311

Let me just close with one final question for you. That is: Developing this benchmarking is something lots of regulators do and have done. Utilities have put time and effort into this, customers have put some time and effort into this in various jurisdictions. What are some realistic expectations for us here? We've been working at this for a couple of months now ‑ well, many of the people working on it have been doing a lot of other jobs at the same time ‑ is it realistic to expect that coming up with a comparators and cohorts benchmark that we're reasonably comfortable with could take us some number of regulatory cycles? It could take us a few years to do this; is that fair?

1312

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, just looking broadly over recent years of electricity restructuring, I have no reason to think it's going to stop its evolution.

1313

MR. ADAMS:
Thank you very much.

1314

Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.

1315

MR. KAISER:
Thank you, Mr. Adams. Any re‑examination?

1316

MS. LEA:
Yes, I have two questions in re‑examination, sir. Thank you.

1317

RE‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

1318

MS. LEA:
Mr. Camfield, Mr. Rogers, the elder, I just had to get that in, sir, not your grandson, was talking to you about the C&C mechanism and discussing with you the fact that this is a new mechanism, that you had not innovated this mechanism before, that we're having the benefit of a new mechanism here. But sir, the question I wanted to ask you is: Are the analytical tools that you were using in conducting your analysis of new tools or new tools to you?

1319

MR. CAMFIELD:
No, these are well‑established tools. The statistical analysis, the applications of these tools have been very, very broad across physical and social sciences. There is nothing new here.

1320

MS. LEA:
Thank you. And the second question is, a number of representatives of stakeholders seem to be expressing a concern about a lack of understanding by the utilities, or the public, or any of the stakeholders here with regard to several topics. And I was wondering if you would be ‑‑ you have indicated in your evidence you have met with stakeholders already to learn from them and to try to explain to them various things. Would you be willing to meet with stakeholders again to learn more information from them, for example, information on LDC characteristics, and also to provide more information to them, for example, more detail or ways to succeed with the data filings or to explain your analysis?

1321

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would be delighted to do that. There's some recent history that suggests that travelling to Toronto, though always exciting and fun, is somewhat uncertain in a planned fashion.

1322

MS. LEA:
Would you be willing to give it a try, sir?

1323

MR. CAMFIELD:
Of course.

1324

MS. LEA:
Thank you.

1325

Those are my questions, sir. Thank you very much.

1326

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

1327

MR. KAISER:
Mr. Camfield, you've mentioned a number of times that trying to determine the feasibility of this C&C exercise is dependent on first the data, the data quality, and secondly, the statistical methodology, as you call it, or modelling. Which of the two is the biggest problem, in your view, or the most uncertain as to outcome?

1328

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's a very good question.

1329

MR. KAISER:
Well, that's the right answer.

1330

MR. CAMFIELD:
I guess, Mr. Kaiser, the way I would look at this is if we do not have good data ‑‑ or let's call it satisfactory data. As I have mentioned, I don't think we need to have perfect data, but we need to have satisfactorily good data. If we have that, then I think it's likely to go ahead. And so if we ‑‑ but if we don't have that, we can't go ahead, I think, and give you something that's of sufficient ‑‑ sufficiently reliable results that you can use, in a useful way.

1331

MR. KAISER:
Now, in your report, at the very end, you make the statement: "The data and information, as currently filed, is incomplete and inaccurate and needs to be augmented with key data." You go on to say: "The reported data appears to contain considerable noise."

1332

And then today you filed 6.3, which has 27 different pieces of data that you deem to be essential, and 16 of them have already been filed with the Board. In other words, they're not new. What assurance do we have that the Ontario LDCs are going to do any better job next time around on reporting that kind of data? They've already been reporting it and you're saying it's inaccurate, and essentially useless.

1333

MR. CAMFIELD:
I wouldn't characterize it as useless. We found really quite a lot of good information, and frankly the choice of words that I'm using in my report toward the end there, sir, may be a little stronger language than how I'd characterize it today.

1334

MR. KAISER:
You did say, however, in the course of your evidence today, that when you looked at these American utilities, not just the investor‑owned but the rural co‑ops, they were pretty good on data reporting, they even met FERC standards. Do you remember that?

1335

MR. CAMFIELD:
It's a FERC requirement.

1336

MR. KAISER:
Right.

1337

MR. CAMFIELD:
I should mention that the US utilities, both public and private utilities, do not have data and information of the full dimensionality that the Ontario LDCs have, on the other hand. You have a broader range of descriptors about the business and about the technologies as commonly filed than I have available to me in the United States, and that's what I found really quite good. I think we have the potential to do a very good job here.

1338

MR. KAISER:
I guess what I wanted to ask you is: Having regard to your experience in the States and having regard to what you concluded about the data that had been filed, in the course of your discussions with Staff figuring out how you go forward, are there any changes that you're recommending that will improve the quality of the data that these Ontario LDCs file? Is there something with our procedures that we can enact to make sure that we're getting better reporting than we apparently are now?

1339

MR. CAMFIELD:
I haven't assessed the procedures. I have discussed at substantial length the data issues with Board Staff, as you know.

1340

MR. KAISER:
Have you made any recommendations?

1341

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have not, other than data identification.

1342

MR. KAISER:
Can you turn, sir, to chapter 14. It's page 142 in the handbook. Maybe your counsel could give it to you if you don't have it.

1343

MR. CAMFIELD:
I have it.

1344

MR. KAISER:
As you probably know, the way this works is you sort of fill in the blanks in this handbook, and I want to take you through this page. The first is methodology, 14.1, and it says: "The methodology to determine the comparators is as follows," and then there's a blank, "to be determined." Now, from your evidence, is there something I can put in that blank?

1345

MR. CAMFIELD:
At this time?

1346

MR. KAISER:
Yes. I take it it's still to be determined, or am I wrong?

1347

MR. CAMFIELD:
Well, I would say that if you wanted to rule on my methodology positively ‑‑

1348

MR. KAISER:
No, I'm not ruling on it, I'm just trying to fill in the blank.

1349

MR. CAMFIELD:
‑‑ I would accept it.

1350

MR. KAISER:
This has already been published, there is a placeholder here. I'm just asking you, based on your evidence ‑ there may be other people that have different views ‑ what would you put in that blank? Are you recommending a methodology that we can plunk in here today?

1351

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1352

MR. KAISER:
You are?

1353

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1354

MR. KAISER:
And what would that be?

1355

MR. CAMFIELD:
It would be the ‑‑ some codification of the three‑ or four‑step process of the C&C mechanism as I have developed it. I think ‑‑ go ahead.

1356

MR. KAISER:
Can you write out that paragraph? Can you write out what goes in this box, according to you?

1357

MR. CAMFIELD:
In draft? Absolutely.

1358

MR. KAISER:
Not right now, but as an undertaking, so that we know what your position is as to what goes into this box.

1359

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes, I can do that.

1360

UNDERTAKING NO. E.6.3:
FOR MR. CAMFIELD TO FILL IN BLANKS OF SECTION 14.1 OF THE EDR HANDBOOK

1361

MR. KAISER:
All right. The next section is: "The methodology to determine the cohorts is as follows." Could you give us that paragraph as to what goes in the box?

1362

MR. CAMFIELD:
I can write a general statement of the way that should be handled.

1363

MR. KAISER:
What does that mean? Will there be a methodology to determine the cohorts that will go in the book or not?

1364

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1365

MR. KAISER:
Okay. And then 14.2 says: "The applicants must file no later than blank month of blank day of 2005, the following information." That I take it is 6.3.

1366

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1367

MR. KAISER:
All right. And at this point in time, these utilities are going to file, according to this handbook, if the Board accepts your evidence, they're going to file the information that's listed in 6.3. Do they know what comparators you are going to be using or calculating on the basis of that data at this point?

1368

MR. CAMFIELD:
No.

1369

MR. KAISER:
The comparators will be determined later; is that right?

1370

MR. CAMFIELD:
As I had mentioned in my introductory comments, Mr. Kaiser, and those were made in response to questions by Ms. Lea, the key element that we need to do looking forward through the year 2005 is to define the specification, and that will include the definition of what the comparators are. And I think we need to finalize on that before we could do that.

1371

MR. KAISER:
I'm just trying to understand the process. We're going to issue a handbook here so that these people can fill out their rate applications. When that handbook goes out, you anticipate that we will not have yet defined the comparators or we will have? Will the comparators be in the book, if we have?

1372

MR. CAMFIELD:
I would say that it will depend upon when the book is to be sent out, sir.

1373

MR. KAISER:
Do you have any understanding as to when that is going to happen?

1374

MR. CAMFIELD:
I'm afraid that I don't.

1375

MR. KAISER:
Then the last section here it says: "The analysis to be performed on this information." There are a number of questions, and that's presumably the ‑‑ by the way, the same question with respect to the cohorts or the groups. When the book goes out, ‑‑ when does the book go out?

1376

MS. LEA:
Well, that's a good question, sir. It partly depends on the drafting of it. I think the idea is, if I can assist a bit, it is unlikely that the data filing would necessarily occur before the book goes out. And if the data filing is a prerequisite for Mr. Camfield to finalize the comparators and the cohorts, then those may not be known before the book goes out. In other words, it's a question of what date do we choose to ask the utilities or require the utilities to file information compared to the date we issue the handbook.

1377

MR. KAISER:
The book, as it's currently drafted, suggests if they look at the book it will tell them when they file. So the filing comes after the book, as it's currently structured. You're saying that may change.

1378

MS. LEA:
That's correct. My anticipation, sir, would be that the book would contain the filing requirement.

1379

MR. KAISER:
Right.

1380

MS. LEA:
However, just from a helpful point of view, I had contemplated having a meeting with utilities as soon as possible to assist them with the data. So if there was any earlier date you wanted to indicate before the book goes out, we can communicate that to people to make it easier for them.

1381

MR. KAISER:
In any event, leaving aside the book problem, when is it the utilities might know what are the groups or cohorts that the Board would be using?

1382

MR. CAMFIELD:
We should complete the study analyses and report findings within about three and a half to four weeks following the receipt of the data. I would imagine that there is going to be some give and take with the LDCs, some discussion with the LDCs about their filings as far as the C&C data is concerned.

1383

I'm inclined to think that, working with Board Staff, we'll have to contact them about this data and that data set and some changes here. Do you mean this, do you mean that, that sort of back and forth, but that shouldn't take too long.

1384

MR. KAISER:
So Ms. Lea, does that mean they would have it before they file their rate application?

1385

MS. LEA:
It's possible, sir. It depends on the timing. It again, is a question of balance of burden versus the desire to be prompt. How soon do we believe the utilities should be required to provide this data? And it also depends, sir, on the decision this Board Panel makes on what data, if any, is required.

1386

MR. KAISER:
Well, I understand that, and that's what the placeholder says. You will file X on Y.

1387

MS. LEA:
That's correct.

1388

MR. KAISER:
So that, presumably, will be part of our decision.

1389

MS. LEA:
It will be, I would recommend, sir.

1390

MR. KAISER:
So if I understand the witness, three or four weeks after the receipt of that data, you would be able to determine what the comparators are, on one hand, and the cohorts or groups are on the other hand.

1391

MR. CAMFIELD:
That's my expectation.

1392

MR. KAISER:
And so advise the utilities.

1393

MR. CAMFIELD:
Yes.

1394

MR. KAISER:
Thank you.

1395

We will stand adjourned until 9:30 tomorrow morning.

1396

MS. LEA:
Yes, sir. Thank you.

1397

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:43 p.m.

